

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

5-2021

Looping and Academic Achievement in Elementary Schools

Kate Hall East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd

Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Hall, Kate, "Looping and Academic Achievement in Elementary Schools" (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 3878. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/3878

This Dissertation - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Looping and Academic Achievement in Elementary Schools

A dissertation

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership, concentration in Administrative Endorsement

by

Kate P. Hall

May 2021

Dr. Virginia Foley, Chair

Dr. John Boyd

Dr. Donald Good

Keywords: accountability, academic achievement, looping

ABSTRACT

Looping and Academic Achievement in Elementary Schools

by

Kate Hall

The purpose of the quantitative study was to determine if there was a significant difference in the academic performance of students at the elementary level who loop compared to those who do not. This study also assessed if there was a significant difference in academic achievement among subgroups in students who loop compared to those who do not. A quantitative, ex postfacto, comparative design was used to analyze data to determine if there is a significant relationship between looping and academic achievement for elementary students. The scores of students enrolled in two looping classrooms at two schools were compared to those of two nonlooping classrooms at two schools. The data that were analyzed included students' reading scores on the Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA), math benchmark scores, and a district writing assessment. The results of the quantitative study revealed that students who participated in looped classrooms scored significantly higher on the math benchmark than students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. However, there was no significant difference in reading or writing benchmark scores between students who participate in looped classrooms compared to students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. The results also revealed that there was a significant difference in writing scores between males and females in nonlooped classrooms, with females scoring significantly higher than males. However, there was no significant difference in writing scores between males and females in looped classrooms. In addition, no significant difference was found between males and females in looped and nonlooped classrooms in either reading or math scores. Finally, there was a significant difference in math scores

between minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms, with nonminority students scoring significantly higher than minority students. However, there was no significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students in looped classrooms. In addition, no significant difference was found between minority and nonminority students in looped and nonlooped classrooms in either reading or writing scores.

Copyright 2021 by Kate Hall

All Rights Reserved

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to all of those who have supported me throughout this journey. To my husband, Brandon, who gave me the strength and encouragement I needed. I will be forever grateful to you for pushing me through when I felt like giving up. You are my biggest fan and you always believe in me. To my son, Blake, my greatest blessing. I am so proud to be your mom; you make me a better person. It has been a joy to watch you grow these past two and a half years and I cannot wait to see what life has in store for you. You will do amazing things!

To my parents, I will never forget all of the love and encouragement you provided to me as I pursued my goals and dreams, not to mention the childcare so I could complete this. You raised me to love teaching and learning, and I am so thankful for both of you. I also extend many thanks to my mother and father in-law who supported me by taking care of Blake when I needed to work on my research. You have always encouraged me and I am grateful for both of you. To my many friends who encouraged me, thank you. I am so fortunate to have life-long friends who love and support me. Finally, to all of my coworkers who consistently checked on my progress and encouraged me to finish. I am proud to know each of you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my thanks to Dr. Virginia Foley, my Chairperson. Thank you for the encouragement throughout this program. I appreciate all of the advice and guidance throughout my studies and professional life. To Dr. Good, thank you for answering all of my questions with patience and understanding as I tackled statistics. To Dr. Boyd, thank you for your feedback and kind words over the years. To Michael Hubbard, you provided me with the data I needed to complete this dissertation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	
DEDICATION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
Chapter 1. Introduction	
Statement of the Problem	
Research Questions	
Rational and Significance of the Study	
Definitions of Terms	
Delimitations and Limitations	
Chapter Summary	
Chapter 2. Review of Related Literature	
Major Pertinent Theories	
Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs Theory	
Motivation Theory	
Self- Determination Theory	
Attachment Theory	
History of Looping	
Basics of Looping	
Advantages of Looping	
Sustained Relationships	
Parent Involvement in Looped Classrooms	
Instructional Time	
Student Attendance	
Student Retentions	
Referrals to Special Education	
Social Benefits of Looping	
Disadvantages of Looping	
Time	
Mobility	
Relationships	
Student Achievement-Based Accountability	
The Achievement Gap	

Research Related to Academic Achievement and Looping	52
Chapter Summary	56
Chapter 3. Methodology	57
Research Questions and Null Hypotheses	57
Sample	60
Data Source	61
Data Collection	62
Data Analysis	62
Chapter Summary	63
Chapter 4. Findings	64
Research Question 1	64
Research Question 2	65
Research Question 3	67
Research Question 4	68
Research Question 5	70
Research Question 6	72
Research Question 7	75
Research Question 8	77
Research Question 9	79
Chapter Summary	82
Chapter 5. Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	83
Discussion and Conclusions	83
Implications for Practice	85
Recommendations for Future Research	87
Chapter Summary	88
References	89

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Reading Scores for Looped and Nonlooped Students	65
Figure 2. Math Scores for Looped and Nonlooped Students	56
Figure 3. Writing Scores for Looped and Nonlooped Students	58
Figure 4. Reading Scores for Males and Females in Looped Classrooms	59
Figure 5. Reading Scores for Males and Females in Nonlooped Classrooms	70
Figure 6. Math Scores for Males and Females in Looped Classrooms	71
Figure 7. Math Scores for Males and Females in Nonlooped Classrooms	72
Figure 8. Writing Scores for Males and Females in Looped Classrooms	73
Figure 9. Writing Scores for Males and Females in Nonlooped Classrooms	74
Figure 10. Reading Scores for Minorities and Nonminority Students in Looped Classrooms	76
Figure 12. Math Scores for Minorities and Nonminority Students in Looped Classrooms	78
Figure 13. Math Scores for Minority and Nonminority Students in Nonlooped Classrooms	79
Figure 14. Writing Scores for Minorities and Nonminority Students in Looped Classrooms	80
Figure 15. Writing Scores for Minority and Nonminority Students in Nonlooped Classrooms	81

Chapter 1. Introduction

Educators and administrators continually look for practices and strategies to implement in the classroom to increase academic achievement. Although educational policy decisions are made at the state and federal levels of our government, educational leaders feel the brunt of decision making at the local level (Findley, 2018).

The need to increase student achievement scores has increased since *A Nation at Risk* was released in 1983 (Findley, 2018). This idea continued for years until the *No Child Left Behind (NCLB)* Act reauthorization of Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) passed in 2002. This act expanded the federal government's control over the public education system. Elements found within NCLB have forced school leaders to change how they think about school reform and programs to help with student achievement. NCLB determined standardized test scores would serve as the main measure of quality schools and student performance. NCLB also required school districts to report progress for specific subgroups within the population. The ESEA reauthorization, Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) passed in 2015, required states to report achievement results for subgroups (NASSP, 2020).

For students to become productive and contributing members of society, they must develop competency in areas, including reading, writing, and math (Danley, 2012). Yet, some students do not meet the basic standards in these core academic subjects, while others cannot write or read on grade level, or solve basic math problems. In addition, there continues to be an achievement gap between White, Hispanic, and Black populations.

With the urgency to narrow the achievement gap, school leaders began researching and implementing instructional strategies (Findley, 2018). One strategy that merits more research is looping. Looping is an instructional strategy that can be used to boost academic achievement and

narrow the achievement gap for students, while building strong relationships within the classroom (Findley, 2018; Minkel, 2015; Phelps, 2016).

Looping refers to the practice of keeping the same teacher with their students for 2 or more consecutive years (Laboratory at Brown University [LAB], 1997; Thomas, 2014). Attention to looping has increased in recent years, but the idea behind teachers staying with their students for more than 1 school year is not new (Grant et al., n.d.). This practice is growing in its use in classrooms. The recent interest in looping prompted researchers to reexamine the effectiveness of its structure. According to Koester (2000), looping is gaining ground in education as educators and society recognize the need for schools to provide a stable structure, as well as increase student knowledge. Looping provides a way to promote long-term teacher and student relationships. Kurtz (1998) found that looping also builds bonds between students and teachers and provides a seamless continuation of learning as students' progress through grade levels. Most studies are qualitative and document positive experiences and support for looping.

Statement of the Problem

The purpose of the quantitative study was to determine if there was a significant difference in the academic performance of students at the elementary level who loop compared to those who do not. This study also assessed if there was a significant difference in academic achievement among subgroups in students that loop compared to those that do not. This study was conducted in four elementary schools in one school district in East Tennessee. The scores of students enrolled in two looping classrooms at two schools were compared to those of two nonlooping classrooms at two schools. The data that were analyzed included students' reading scores on the Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA), math benchmark scores, and a district writing assessment. The scores reported for all students on the assessments were examined as the

primary dependent variable. An additional examination explored the performance levels of subgroups. The performance of males in comparison to females among all groups was examined, as well as a comparison of minorities.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used to guide this study:

- RQ1: Is there a significant difference in reading scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms?
- RQ2: Is there a significant difference in math scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms?
- RQ3: Is there a significant difference in writing scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms?
- RQ4: Is there a significance difference in reading scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?
- RQ5: Is there a significance difference in math scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?
- RQ6: Is there a significance difference in writing scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?
- RQ7: Is there a significance difference in reading scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

- RQ8: Is there a significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?
- RQ9: Is there a significant difference in writing scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Rational and Significance of the Study

Klinzing (2019) found that quantitative and qualitative research supports looping and referenced a study that found looping can improve test scores, with the largest gains found for minorities. Upon review of current research related to looping and academic achievement, there is a gap in quantitative research related to comparing looped and nonlooped students and academic achievement (Bogart, 2002; Thomas, 2014; Williams-Wright, 2013). Lloyd (2014) noted that while more schools are implementing looping, research that provides concrete, empirical data to support looping related to academic and social benefits is lacking. According to Findley (2018), a gap exists in the analysis of looping and its relationship to narrowing the achievement gap, specifically for subgroups. Therefore, this study served to measure the relationship between looping and academic achievement.

The concept of looping has been in the field of education for centuries. Qualitative research supports the concept of looping and has found many advantages for students and teachers (Klinzing, 2019; LAB, 1997). However, there is less quantitative research to assess the benefits or disadvantages of looping, especially related to academic achievement (Thomas, 2014). This quantitative study adds quantitative data on the academic achievement of students in looped classrooms compared to those in nonlooped classrooms to the existing literature. This

study also adds research information related to the relationship between looping and specific subgroups.

Several stakeholder groups may benefit from this study on the relationship between looping and academic achievement. Using this study's results, administrators, and teachers may be able to leverage findings to determine how to best deliver instruction in elementary schools.

Definitions of Terms

Key terms are defined to assist the reader in understanding terminology and concepts in the study. The following terms are defined by use in this study.

Accountability: There are three main types of accountability systems in education: compliance with regulations, adherence to professional norms, and results-driven (Anderson, 2005). Compliance with regulations requires educators be accountable for adherence to rules and accountable to the bureaucracy. Within adherence to professional norms, educators are accountable for adherence to standards and accountable to their peers. Finally, the results-driven system requires educators to be accountable for student learning and accountable to the general public.

Achievement Gap: In education, the achievement gap refers to the disparities among student achievement that correspond to the racial, socioeconomic, and linguistic backgrounds of students (Noguera, 2009). Achievement gaps occur when one group of students outperforms another group and the difference in the average score for the two groups is statistically significant (NAEP, 2020).

Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA): The DRA is an individualized reading assessment that enables teachers to evaluate growth in student reading performance over time. The DRA

helps teachers to identify students' independent reading level by assessing students' oral reading fluency and comprehension (Beaver & Carter, 2019).

Looping: Looping is the practice of allowing teachers to keep the same students over 2 or more years (Grant et al., 1996).

Minorities: Recognized ethnic minorities include African Americans, Hispanic Americans, Native Americans, and Asian Americans (TDOE, n.d.). Students are assigned to historically underserved student groups, including Black, Hispanic, and Native American students (BHN) (TDOE, 2019a).

Subgroups: In education, subgroups generally refers to any group of students who share similar characteristics, such as gender identification, racial or ethnic identification, socioeconomic status, physical or learning disabilities, language abilities, or school-assigned classrifications (Great Schools Partnership, 2015). According to the Tennessee Department of Education (2019a), students are assigned to the following historically underserved student groups as applicable:

- Black, Hispanic, and Native American students (BHN)
- English learners (EL)
- Economically disadvantaged students (ED)
- Students with disabilities (SWD)

According to the Tennessee state report card for the 2019-2020 school year, 1,014,502 students were enrolled in Tennessee Public Schools (2019b). Of these students, 0.4% were American Indian/Alaska Native, 2.4% were Asian, 24.2% were Black/African American, 11.8% were Hispanic, 0.2% were Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, and 61% were White. Of those 1,014,502 students, 30.8% were ED, 5% were EL, and 13.6% were SWD.

Delimitations and Limitations

The study was limited to a set of mathematics, reading, and writing scores comparing looping classrooms to nonlooping classrooms. The mathematics data are limited to a district-wide math assessment. The reading data are limited to the Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA), which is a measurement for student's reading engagement, oral reading fluency, and comprehension (Beaver & Carter, 2019). The writing data are limited to a district-wide writing assessment, which is scored by teachers using a district-created writing rubric. These specific assessments are not used in all states or elementary schools, limiting the findings of the study.

In addition, the teacher effects on student outcomes is a limitation of the study. This study did not address teacher quality. It was assumed that all teachers in the study were capable, knowledgeable, and comparable in skill and ability. Teachers selected for the study were chosen because they were involved in a looping cycle during the time of the research study.

This study was limited by the assumption that looping positively affects academic achievement. This study was also limited by the assumption that looping would have a positive impact on student subgroups. Factors other than being placed in a looped classroom could have also had an impact on student achievement.

This study was delimited to four elementary schools within a single school district in East Tennessee. In these schools, a specific cohort of students who had experienced looping were followed. These students were assigned to preexisting groups, either looped or nonlooped classrooms. The results cannot be generalized, but can be suggested.

It was assumed that these data sources reported for all elementary students were accurate and an appropriate measure of student achievement. The researcher also assumed that the assessments were administered in a setting that was conducive to ideal performance by all students. Environmental factors such as lighting, flexible seating, classroom temperature, and

room arrangement were assumed to be suitable. Incidentals such as test stress, student worry of failure, student and teacher behavior, and other distractions were assumed to have been minimized throughout the testing window.

Chapter Summary

Chapter 1 provides an introduction to the study, which assessed the potential relationship between looping and student achievement. The introduction included information related to the practice of looping in the classroom. The background of the practice of looping presents the need for further analysis of the potential relationship of looping and academic achievement outcomes.

Chapter 2. Review of Related Literature

Major Pertinent Theories

Understanding the topics of motivation and learning, the influence of classroom environments, and student-teacher relationships with regards to student outcomes is shown though the lens of different theoretical frameworks (Koca, 2016; Tipton, 2017), including Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs, Motivation Theory, Self-Determination Theory, and Attachment Theory. These theoretical frameworks connect classroom practices and student outcomes. (Opdenakker et al., 2012). These theories help provide frameworks for explaining the effects of classroom environment factors on a student engagement and academic achievement.

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs Theory

In 1954, Maslow introduced his theory about how people satisfy their needs (Gawel, 1997). According to his theory, there are five levels of needs: Physiological, Safety, Love and Belonging, Esteem, and Self-Actualization. There is a pattern of needs recognition and satisfaction, and people tend to follow the same pattern. Maslow also theorized that people cannot pursue the next higher need until their current need is satisfied.

Maslow did not apply his theory to the educational setting; however, his earlier works pointed to a specific interest in how motivation impacts learning and the learning experience (Milheim, 2012). The lowest level, physiological needs, included basic needs, such as food, water and air (Gawel, 1997). In the classroom, these would be basic needs students need to be successful, such as books and materials (Milheim, 2012), as well as meals before and during school and access to a school nurse, when needed (Findley, 2018).

The second level, safety, included security, stability, and protection (Gawel, 1997). Translated to the classroom setting, this idea would include the classroom and school-wide discipline policies (Findley, 2018).

The third level, love and belonging, included feeling loved and a sense of fitting in (Gawel, 1997). In the classroom, this would be collaboration between peers, a sense of community within the school and classroom, the presence of a teacher, as well as positive relationships with teachers and classmates (Findley, 2018).

The fourth level, esteem, included self-respect and respect of others (Gawel, 1997). Students achieve self-esteem in the classroom through feedback, an inclusive classroom climate, and opportunities to show ability (Findley, 2018).

The fifth level, self-actualization, is when one fulfills their own potential (Gawel, 1997). Students reach the fifth level in the classroom when they want to improve on their own success and actively engages in instruction (Findley, 2018).

For students to reach the highest level of self-actualization, they must have the lower four levels met (Findley, 2018). Self-actualization students learn through intrinsic learning and intrinsic learning involves the processes that help students become all they are capable of becoming (Milheim, 2012). Teachers have important roles as they help students work toward self-actualization. Motivation research found that students rely on the structure and support from teachers as well as teachers' ability to help them feel successful academically (Fredriksen & Rhodes, 2004). Teachers' expectations, beliefs, and behaviors influence the quality of relationships with students. The extent that teachers are able to balance the need for structure with students' need for autonomy impacts students' need for independence and motivation.

Another important aspect in helping students reach self-actualization is the positive and supportive relationship between students and teachers (Findley, 2018; Milheim, 2012). A teacher can also help students work towards self-actualization by knowing and understanding each child's individual learning goal and providing tools and resources to help support that student in meeting their learning goals.

Motivation Theory

Motivation within the educational setting includes needs, drives, goals, aspirations, interests, and affects (Lazowski & Hulleman, 2016). Research in educational psychology found that student motivation is essential for learning. Motivated students learn more, persist longer, produce higher quality work, and score higher on assessments, especially when the motivation is intrinsic, versus extrinsic. Motivation in schools has been shown to have significant impacts on academic learning, self-esteem, self-efficacy and school readiness (Koca, 2016). In addition, prior research has shown that motivation is an important predictor of student outcomes, including self-efficacy, academic engagement, and academic achievement (Opdenakker et al., 2011).

According to Koca (2016), motivation is significantly related to students' standardized achievement scores. Students with intrinsic motivation received higher reading and math achievement scores compared to classmates with extrinsic motivational orientations.

Teacher-student relationships play a key role in the development of competencies in early school-age years (Koca, 2016). Teachers can create a classroom environment that kindles students' motivation and learning. In addition, the relationship between the teacher and student help students develop social, emotional, and academic skills. Positive student-teacher relationships in a warm classroom environment can help students successfully adapt to school,

increasing their motivation to learn. Even more, positive relationships within a safe and supportive environment can enable students to open up and take academic risks.

Koca (2016) noted that when children enter school or transition to the next grade level, they encounter challenges, such as creating relationships with peers and adults. Student-teacher relationships play a key role in the development of competencies in elementary school, including social, emotional, and academic skills. Prior research has found a significant relationship between student adaptive motivation for academics and social factors within the classroom, including relationships, teacher support, and teacher practices that foster respect. In these classrooms, teachers encouraged students to focus on the task and provided feedback, teachers perceived learning as an active process, incorporating positive interactions, understanding versus memorization, and student engagement. Positive student-teacher relationships can contribute to a classroom environment that learners perceive to be inviting, which facilitates adaption in school, therefore increasing students' motivation to learn.

Self- Determination Theory

Self-determination theory expands upon the work of social motivation theory and differentiates the types of motivation (Deci & Ryan, 2008). According to Koca (2016), self-determination theorists claim that children begin to value behaviors that they see reinforced, both their own behaviors and those of significant others within their social environments, including teachers and families. The most central difference in self-determination theory is between autonomous motivation and controlled motivation. Autonomous motivation includes intrinsic motivation, while controlled motivation includes external regulation. When people are autonomously motivated, they experience self-endorsement of their actions. When people are

controlled, they experience pressure to think, feel, or behave in certain ways. Both autonomous and controlled motivation help to energize and direct one's behavior.

Self-determination theory suggests that individuals have basic psychological needs for: competence or self-efficacy, autonomy, and relatedness (Virtue, 2014). When these needs are met, it supports motivation, self-regulation, personal well-being, and high-quality learning (Koca, 2016). Relationships are a key factor that encourage a student's wellbeing and personal growth; therefore, teachers are a key factor in helping students achieve these psychological needs (Cherry, 2019). The student-teacher relationship is an important and powerful motivator for the development of competence and autonomy (Koca, 2016). Research indicated that students who believe they are academically competent are more likely to be interested in academic and school tasks. In addition, when teachers support student's basic psychological needs and provide a safe classroom environment, they are promoting healthy student-teacher relationships. Within this type of environment, students reported increased levels of competence, autonomy, and positive relatedness.

Students experience competence when they are challenged and given timely feedback (American Psychological Association) [APA], 2004). According to Cherry (2019), competence included the ability to master tasks as well as the ability to learn new skills. Students are more likely to take actions to meet their goals when they feel that they have the skills needed to help them succeed.

When students are supported to explore, take initiative and develop and implement solutions to problems, they experience autonomy (APA, 2004). Autonomy provides students the feeling that they are in control of their behaviors and goals (Cherry, 2019). Autonomy is

important, as it enables students to feel that their actions will result in a change. This directly impacts their feelings of self-determination.

Finally, relatedness or connection is felt when students have a sense of belonging or attachment to other people (Cherry, 2019). Students experience relatedness when they believe others listen and respond to them (APA, 2004). When these three needs are met, students are more intrinsically motivated.

When students perceive the goal of education is to obtain external rewards, they perform more poorly, think of themselves as less competent, and report greater anxiety (APA, 2004). Deci and Ryan (1999) found that the use of external rewards decreased motivation for a task and led to a negative effect on intrinsic motivation.

In the classroom, self-determination can be built to help students feel more engaged and motivated (Cherry, 2019). This can be fostered using teamwork and allowing students to take an active role in their learning. Niemiec and Ryan (2009) noted several studies that found learning tasks that are perceived as autonomy supportive are conducive to students' intrinsic motivation. It is also vital to provide students with meaningful feedback, while providing support and encouragement. Finally, teachers should be careful not to overuse extrinsic rewards. Too many external rewards can undermine intrinsic motivation, while too few may cause students to feel unappreciated. Instead, teachers can provide unexpected, positive feedback when students perform well. This will help improve competence.

One of the main components of self-determination theory is social connectivity (Cherry, 2019). When students have strong social relationships, those relationships foster motivation and well-being. A strong social support offers student's opportunities for growth, which can help students develop a self-determined perspective.

Attachment Theory

Attachment theory is based on the enduring affectionate bond that connects one person to another (Bergin & Bergin, 2009; Watson, 2018). The attachment theory in the classroom is based upon the bond between a child and the primary caregiver (Kennedy & Kennedy, 2004). The foundational assumption of attachment research indicates that humans develop a secure attachment to their primary caregiver when that person responds in a caring way, ensuring protection from environmental dangers and provides a sense of security. Specific attachment behaviors include adults attending to a child's needs, responding to a child's signals, and looking toward the child (Bergin & Bergin, 2009). When students have a secure attachment, they are free to explore the world around them. When this attachment is not available and the child is unable to use the caregiver as a secure base, an insecure attachment is developed (Kennedy & Kennedy, 2004; Watson, 2018). This is classified as either an anxious-ambivalent attachment or an anxious-avoidant attachment. Each attachment classification impacts emotional regulation for managing affect, events, and relationships throughout life.

Children with secure attachments are more likely to develop an internal representation that views others as supportive, helpful, and positive (Kennedy & Kennedy, 2004). They are also more likely to view themselves as competent and worthy of respect. Securely attached children relate more positively to peers and adults, engage in more complex plan, show more flexible and socially appropriate control, show more focused attention and participation in school, and earn higher grades (Kennedy & Kennedy, 2004; Watson, 2018). In addition, older children report more satisfying relationships and increased trust in others. Finally, they exhibit a more positive view of self and can cope in stressful situations.

The development of secure attachments extends outside of the family environment, if the relationship includes provision of physical and emotional care, a consistent presence in one's

life, and an emotional investment in the individual (Kennedy & Kennedy, 2004). Therefore, relationships with teachers provide students a place to explore outside of their home base and provide a safe place during stress.

Children's socioemotional well-being is critical to school success, and attachment forms the foundation (Bergin & Bergin, 2009). Therefore, educators can be more effective when they understand how attachment impacts their students. The quality of the teacher-student relationship may be the most important factor for positive adaptation at school (Kennedy & Kennedy, 2004; Watson, 2018). Students who experience positive and supportive relationships with teachers show greater social competence with peers and adults, participate more frequently in supportive social networks, have fewer behavior problems and demonstrate higher achievement and academic performance when compared to peers with insecure relationships. According to Watson (2018), students with a history of secure attachment performed well in all measures in elementary school, and attachment security related positively to math and reading performance.

The classroom environment can support attachment when the student views the teacher as sensitive, accessible, and responsive to their needs (Kennedy & Kennedy, 2004). To be effective, teachers must connect with and care for students with warmth, respect, and trust (Bergin & Bergin, 2009). This ensures anxiety-free academic and social learning. For at-risk students, teachers may be their only positive, supportive adult role model. During a time of increased accountability, student-teacher relationships is central to raising achievement.

According to Bergin and Bergin (2009), studies have found that teachers to students in first through fifth grade who were characterized as emotionally warm and sensitive had greater growth in math and reading abilities. In addition, studies in first grade classrooms found emotionally supportive teachers had students who were more likely to engage in academic

activities, experience positive relationships with peers, and avoid negative behaviors. Even more, close student-teacher relationships led to higher scores on achievement tests, more classroom engagement, less retention, and fewer special education referrals. Even students whose readiness scores indicated a high risk for retention or special education referral were less likely to be retained or referred if they have a close student-teacher relationship in kindergarten.

Student-teacher relationships are important as they indicate long-term well-being in school (Kennedy & Kennedy 2004). A study noted by Kennedy and Kennedy (2004) found that positive student- teacher relationships in first grade were linked to increased engagement, effort, and attention in second grade and increased test scores in third grade among low-SES students. Evidence suggested that secure student-teacher relationships predict increased knowledge, higher test scores, greater motivation, fewer retentions and special education referrals than insecure relationships.

History of Looping

Looping is an educational strategy in which groups of students are together with the same teacher for 2 or more years (LAB, 1997; Phelps, 2016). Grant et al. (1996) coined the term "looping." Looping has been around for many years, but has taken on different forms (LAB, 1997). The strategy of looping dates to the1900s with the Waldorf Schools in Germany, led by Rudolph Steiner, an educator and philosopher (LAB, 1997; Williams-Wright, 2013). Steiner developed the Waldorf Schools to educate the children of the workers at the Waldorf Astoria cigarette factories (Grant et al., 1996; Thomas, 2014).

Steiner posited that long-term teacher relationships were beneficial for students (LAB, 1997; Weaver, 2015). Waldorf education focused on the whole child and was based on the understanding of human development that addressed the needs of growing children (Danley,

2012). Students in Waldorf Schools stayed with the same teacher for 8 years (Grant et al., 1996). This timeframe allowed the students and teachers to know each other very well and allowed the teacher to find the best way of helping individual students learn (Murphy, 2002). In addition, the additional time allowed teachers to learn about the child's prior knowledge, learning styles, behavior and interests (Pecanic, 2013). According to Danley (2012), these long-term relationships can result in an emotional and intellectual climate that encourages risk taking, thinking, and engagement. The teacher would, in effect, serve as a third parent to developing students and become like an additional family member for most families in the classroom. In Germany, today, students stay with their teachers from grades one to four. The looping of students and teachers in the Waldorf Schools led to the opening of over 250 schools in North America since 1928 (Bamford & Utne, 2020).

The concept of looping is common in European and Japanese schools (Koester, 2000; Thomas, 2014, Williams-Wright, 2013). According to Grant et al., (1996), Japan and Israel have multiyear "family groupings" in the lower grades, and multiyear student-teacher relationships by content area in secondary grades. For example, a secondary math teacher may teach the same student algebra, geometry, and other content areas, while the science teacher may teach life sciences, chemistry, and physics. Japanese culture emphasizes student-teacher relationships above specialization of teachers in specific grade levels or content areas (Smith, 2010).

Throughout Denmark, elementary students and teachers spend multiple years together (Smith, 2010; Weaver, 2015). In China, homeroom teachers remain with the same group of students for 3 year rotations in elementary, middle, and high school. China's practice of grouping students in 3 year rotations facilitates strong relationships between students and teachers. Teachers in these countries recognize the importance of developing strong relationships and

understand the time it takes to build these bonds. These relationships enable teachers to motivate students to want to achieve and provide students with a more personalized approach to teaching and learning.

The United States Department of Education addressed looping in 1913 (LAB, 1997; Thomas, 2014). In the memo issued by the department, they questioned whether students should change teachers each year or remain with the same teacher for 2, 3, or 4 years, to allow teachers to get to know students and build onto prior knowledge. The memo discussed advantages to the classroom structure of looping, many of which teachers today notice (LAB, 1997). Advantages addressed in the memo included savings of time, both at the end of the first year as well as at the beginning of the second year, the importance of a teacher being a specialist for children instead of in a subject area, and parents having a better understanding of school due to the relationship with the teacher (Grant et al., 1996).

The concept of looping goes back as far as the one room school house (Barger, 2013; Findley, 2018). From the early 1600s through the mid-1800s, most Americans who attended formal schools in the United States received their education in a single room schoolhouse environment. In one-room schoolhouses, students of different ages learned from one another and their teacher (Caauwe, 2009). There were 190,000 one-room schoolhouses in 1919, and there are now fewer than 400. As one-room schoolhouses shut down, the concept of multi-year teaching was replaced with the practice of teachers staying with groups of students for only one year. This followed the recommendation of Horace Mann, who purported the separation of schools into graded classrooms was appropriate (Findley, 2018).

The application of looping in the United States has been inconsistent. In the 1970s, Deborah Meier, an educator and author in New York City, began using looping in 2 year

segments at Central Park East Elementary School (Findley, 2018; LAB 1997; Thomas, 2014). She based her reasoning on the fact that teachers and students needed time to get to know each other in order to achieve a high level of communication that would support learning. Many elementary schools in the United States use Meier's approach to looping today (Pecanic, 2003). Central Park East Elementary School used looping to build student-teacher relationships and increase academic achievement (Findley, 2018).

According to Findley (2018), looping reemerged in American Schools in the later 1980s and early 1990s. The return to implementing the practice of looping in American schools created an environment to address the academic, emotional, and social needs of students. Williams-Wright (2013) noted that schools in North America returned to looping as a way to increase student achievement.

The history of looping provides a beginning for the use of the instructional strategy in education (Findley, 2018). In addition to understanding the history of looping, a clear understanding of the benefits and disadvantages related to looping provide a framework for the decision to implement looping within educational settings.

Basics of Looping

Looping is a practice of a teacher teaching the same group of students for 2 or more years in a row (Meeks, 2008). Continuous learning, multiyear placement, and family style learning are common names for looping (Meeks, 2008; Thomas, 2014; Williams-Wright, 2013). Looping requires two or more teachers, one in each looped grade level, to have a desire, and the flexibility to leave one grade level, move up with the same group of students to the next grade level, and then return to their first grade level to begin the looping cycle over again (Grant et al., n.d.; Thomas, 2014).

The idea behind looping is to support long-term relationships between teachers and students in the classroom to prevent student anonymity (Caauwe, 2009). Looping provides benefits emotionally, socially, and academically. According to Danley (2012), much of the literature on looping indicates that stability, persistence, and intimacy are the supporting characteristics of a looped classroom. Students in a looped classroom have positive views about learning and display increased academic achievement over nonlooped students.

Advantages of Looping

When implementing looping, research found there are benefits for parents, teachers, and students (Grant et al., n.d.). Schools that have effectively implemented looping found benefits to include: improved relationships between teachers and students, more efficient instruction, better attendance rates, fewer student retentions, fewer student special education referrals, and improved student discipline. The benefits of looping for students show that they enjoy school more, have fewer discipline problems, fewer absences, have fewer referrals to special education, and are less likely to be candidates for retention (Caauwe, 2009; Lloyd, 2014).

In addition, looping does not require a long lead time, extensive planning, or much research (Grant et al., 1996). Looping can be implemented quietly, so it will not as easily become a target of groups opposed to school reform. The concept of looping is a practical approach to school reform and can be implemented without drastic changes in the school environment, without additional classrooms, and is cost effective (Williams-Wright, 2013).

Sustained Relationships

The most powerful benefit to looping is the long-term and consistent relationships among parents, students, and teachers (Nitecki, 2017). The notion of sustained relationships relates to Steiner's philosophy. Sustained relationships foster deep and lasting bonds between students and

teachers as well as teachers and families (Friedlaender et al., 2015). Looping classrooms typically provide a family-style community that is beneficial, especially for shy students, students who do not adapt well to new or changing situations, and for students that have unstable home lives (Barger, 2013; Pecanic, 2003). For some students, the teacher is the most predictable and stable person in their lives and those students can benefit from a looped classroom's stability and teacher continuity (Hitz, 2007). Brandt (1998) noted that students in looped classrooms had less anxiety about school and had greater emotional stability.

According to Ullman (2015), the development of rich relationships leads to enhanced learning. When students feel that they belong and can trust their teacher, they are more likely to come to school and be on task (Auglier, 2010). Students rely on meaningful relationships as they go through their developmental phases and short-term relationships cannot help students' meet their educational objectives (Ullman, 2015).

George et al. (1987) studied student-teacher relationships and found that 70% of teachers reported teaching the same group of students for 3 years allowed them to use more positive approaches with their students. Ninety-two percent of teachers said they knew more about their students, 69% said their students participated in class more willingly, and 85% said their students saw themselves as part of the group, felt pride in their group, and felt pride in the school as a whole. In addition, 84% of teachers reported more positive relations with parents and 75% reported increased empathy with their colleagues.

The concept or strategy of looping creates a classroom environment to support students as they progress through Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs. Looped classrooms form an environment where all members, including the teacher and students, contribute towards forming a sense of community (Bogart, 2002). The learning environment must address students' personal,

social, and emotional needs, and must engage all learners (Daggett, 2014). Much time is spent getting to know one another and appreciating various learning styles. In order to help students learn, teachers need know those students, understand how they learn and retain information, and what motivates them (Ullman, 2005). Looping allows the teacher to get to know each child and identify and address needs due to the extended amount of time spent together (Findley, 2018). In addition, looping creates an extended student to teacher, as well as student-to-student relationships. The presence of strong relationships builds trust that will positively affect learning (Daggett, 2014).

In 2009, Hattie introduced information from a Meta study (Waack, 2020). In this study, Hattie compared effect sizes of various aspects that influences learning outcomes. Effect sizes range from very positive to very negative. Any score above 0.4 has a greater effect on student achievement. Hattie placed Student Teacher Relationships at +0.72, close to the impact of almost a year and a half worth of growth each school year. People are hard-wired for long-term relationships, and emotional growth is not possible without a permanent, supportive presence (Ullman, 2005). Looping satisfies a basic need and provides educational advantages.

Parent Involvement in Looped Classrooms

Looping allows the opportunity to form closer relationships with students' parents over the years (Rasmussen, 1998; Williams-Wright, 2013). The trusting relationship built between parents and teachers allows reflection on growth and change over a longer time period and enables conversations around long-range goals for their students (Danley, 2012). Families may be more willing to accept a teacher's constructive suggestions and be more comfortable sharing challenges in talking with the teacher about their child's progress (Chirichello & Chirichello, 2001; Hitz et al., 2007). Better rapport between teachers and parents results in an increase in

parental involvement, and can therefore increase students' academic achievement (Thomas, 2014).

According to Hitz et al. (2007), parents tend to trust teachers more during the second year of a looped cycle. In addition, the teacher-parent collaborative relationship allows the parent to understand the teacher's philosophy and how it relates to their child. This partnership can lead parents to gaining a greater understanding of their child's academic and social needs (Auglier, 2010). Parents can then become more active participants in their child's education. A successful parent-teacher relationship is key to students' achievement. Looping provides an avenue by which parents and students have a sense of belonging (Danely, 2012).

Instructional Time

Another benefit to looping is that teachers gain extra teaching time (LAB, 1997; Thomas, 2014). Looping can add an extra month of teaching and learning time during the second year (Aguilar, 2010; Hanson, 1995; Weaver, 2015). Increased instructional time can lead to increased student achievement (Pecanic, 2003; Weaver, 2015). Traditionally, teachers spend the first month or so of school getting to know students, assessing what they learned the year before, teaching procedures, and conducting assessments. Looping teachers can spend less time assessing students to determine the most effective teaching strategies for each child than a single-year teacher who is teaching students for the first time (Grant et al., n.d.). Looping teachers can begin the school year with a little review of procedures. Students have already spent a full year with the teacher; therefore, they are familiar with the teacher and the routines. Time is also saved at the end of the year since students do not have to pack up to switch classrooms. Looping places students on a developmental continuum. When students and teachers stay together for more than 1 year, looping offers the gift of time (Rasmussen, 1998; Williams-Wright, 2013).

When teachers have additional time with students, it provides the time teachers need to know how each child learns, how they retain information, and what motivates them (Ullman, 2005). Understanding the individual learning style of each child provides an educational benefit, which can be especially beneficial for students who may have challenges in the classroom. Strong relationships are helpful for all students but are especially important for students with special needs (Rasmussen, 1998; Williams-Wright, 2013). Grant et al. (n.d.) found that special education referrals decreased by 55% in looped classrooms. According to Chirichello and Chirichello (2001), parents consistently found looping enabled teachers to know their child's strengths and weaknesses better and that looping allows the teacher to better meet their child's learning needs. For families whose students are English Language Learners, having the same teacher for 2 or more years helped them gain confidence (Hitz et al., 2007).

Student Attendance

According to Barger (2013), as teachers increase their understanding of each student's needs, this allows for increased academic accountability in both attendance and discipline. Students become more receptive to learning and attend school more often, due to the connection they have with their teacher. Students in looped classrooms are more engaged in the learning process and have higher attendance rates in school (Thomas, 2014).

Cistone and Shneyderman (2004) found that looping improved attendance. In this study, the average number of days absent decreased approximately 1 or 2 days and students in a looped program improved their attendance from the first to the second year. Additionally, research found that student attendance increased from 92% to 97% over a 7-year period, and teacher absences dropped from an average of 7 days per year to 3 (Grant et al., n.d.).

Student Retentions

Over the past 3 decades, grade retention polices have changed from one end of the spectrum to the other (Roderick, 1995). In the 1970s, the philosophy of social promotion was thought to be the most beneficial for students. Policies regarding social promotion came under criticism in the 1980s standards-raising movement, pushed forward by the publication of *A Nation at Risk*. This report noted the decline in student achievement test scores as evidence that policies, including social promotion, lowered the quality of standards and a decrease in the quality of America's education. In response, many schools created strict social promotion policies, often tied to scores on achievement tests. In the 1990s, another change in the outlook of social promotion occurred when school systems began to review their retention policies and search for alternative strategies. According to Oakes (2016), the onset of standardized testing and accountability placed an end to social promotion and retention as an alternative for struggling students. In addition, the push for increased accountability supports the need for evidence-based, alternative instructional strategies to increase academic achievement.

Changes to retention polices were based on evidence that found dropout rates among retained students were higher than dropout rates of promoted students (Roderick, 1995). Barro and Kolstad (1987) found that one grade retention increased the risk of dropping out by 40% to 50%. Additionally, being two grades behind increased the risk by 90%. Barro and Kolstad also found that sophomores who had repeated at least one grade dropped out at more than twice the rate of students who had not been retained. Several studies using data from school systems found that students who were retained dropped out at significantly higher rates, regardless of whether the retention happens early or later in their school careers.

McCoy and Reynolds (1999) investigated the effects of retention on school achievement. Their results indicate that the strongest predictors of retention included early school
performance, gender, parental participation, and the number of school moves. McCoy and Reynolds' findings also indicated that retention is an insufficient strategy for raising student achievement and did not appear to help students. For all achievement comparisons in the study, students that were retained consistently and significantly underperformed compared to their peers who were promoted. The authors noted that other interventions and practices, such as remediation through summer school or tutoring, are needed instead of retention.

Looping allows teachers to postpone high stakes decisions such as retention and referrals to special education (Pecanic, 2003). The advantage is that teachers in looped classrooms have two years to observe and get to know students, two years to identify and assess potential problems, and additional time to implement instructional strategies and apply interventions to resolve problems (Grant et al., 1996). This allows teachers more opportunities to meet the students' individual needs, and students have more time to catch up before they are labeled or retained (Thomas, 2014). In the meantime, teachers can try out various instructional strategies before making these decisions. For borderline students who may need extra time and attention, this may be enough. However, when students still have difficulty after a 2 year loop, grade-level retention should be considered when all other interventions and options have been tried.

Cistone and Shneyderman (2004) compared retention results and found that students in a looped classroom were more likely to advance to the next grade level compared to students in a nonlooped classroom. Additionally, Grant et al. (n.d.) found that retention rates decreased by more than 43% in those same grades.

Referrals to Special Education

According to Murphy (2002), the consistency and stability offered to students in a looped classroom are especially beneficial for students with special needs. Looping fosters the

relationships among students with special needs and those acquiring a second language (Thomas, 2014). The additional time spent with the teacher provides the time that is needed for students to grasp concepts and create products. This time can be used to create an engaging learning environment grounded in the strength of the student and teacher relationship, focused on meeting individual student needs (Oakes, 2016). In addition, the close-knit, family-like atmosphere of a looped classroom offers acceptance of students at differing ability levels.

Referral of students to special education programs is another favorable aspect of looping (Murphy, 2002). When teachers stay with their respective groups of students for more than 1 year, they have more time to analyze the child's learning needs and styles. This could result in more effective reteaching and individualized instruction due to the continuity of the teacher-student relationship. Many times, a student needs extra time and a stable and supportive environment to support learning (Grant et al., 1996). Teachers could also use alternative strategies to help students grasp concepts, resulting in higher academic achievement and more opportunities to reach grade-level standards.

Social Benefits of Looping

Several social benefits can typically be found in looped classrooms. For example, looping allows students more time to build relationships essential for learning and enhances the development of social skills (Cistone & Shneyderman, 2004). According to LAB (1997), social benefits included reduced student apprehension about a new teacher. According to Hanson (1995), time spent developing social skills and cooperative group strategies pays off during the second year. Students are better problem-solvers and are more skillful in working as a collaborative team. In addition, looping allows students to become better problem-solvers, and develops a stronger sense of community and family among parents, teachers, and students.

According to Thomas (2014), looping has social advantages for English Language learners. In a looped classroom, these students adjust well to their school and classroom. In addition, the extra time allows them to be more comfortable with their teacher and their peers. This trust enables students to develop confidence in their newly acquired language skills and have the confidence to share their skills. In some cases, these students begin to share their own culturally diverse stories from their own heritage.

Barger (2013) noted that looping provides an opportunity to teach the whole-child, meeting their academic, emotional, and social needs, which established the opportunity to increase academic achievement. The strategy of teaching the whole-child creates not only a good learner, but also a productive citizen (Findley, 2018).

Disadvantages of Looping

Educational reforms have problems, and looping has disadvantages. According to Grant et al. (1996), the problems connected to looping are few, and most can be avoided with planning.

Time

While time can be a positive aspect of looping, spending longer periods of time with the same students can also bring out the negative side of relationships (Gaustad, 1998). The greatest concern of many parents is that their child will remain with an ineffective teacher for more than one school year. According to Pecanic (2003), teacher weaknesses can be caused for a variety of reasons. The teacher could be new to the grade level, or be a new, inexperienced teacher. This could cause a loss in instructional time as the teacher tries to learn the new curriculum. A teacher may also be stressed about the added responsibility of having the same group of students for more than one year (Auglier, 2010). The teacher may not have wanted to loop. Looping requires conceptual change and some teacher may not be prepared or well suited for that type of

classroom environment (Forsten et al., 1997). It is also possible that the teacher's teaching style does not match the student's learning style (Pecanic, 2003).

Spending 2 or more years with the same students can also be difficult when there are teacher-student personality clashes, a problematic mixture of students, or unreasonable parents (Gaustad, 1998). An inappropriate match or personality conflict between a teacher and a student is a disadvantage to looping (Burke, 1997). If conflicts cannot be solved in the first year, they may become larger problems in the second year.

The relationship between teacher instructional strategies, behavior, and effects on student outcomes is known as teacher effectiveness (Heck, 2008). Sanders and Rivers (1996) used value-added methods to examine the cumulative effects of teacher quality on academic achievement. The study found sizeable differences in student learning due to variations in teacher effectiveness. In another study, Jordan et al. (1997) indicated teacher effectiveness had noticeable effects on students' math and reading scores over several years (Heck, 2008; Whitehurst, 2002). This indicated that the most dominant factor impacting student academic gain is teacher effectiveness (Sanders & Rivers, 1996).

According to Sanders and Rivers (1996), there was a presence of cumulative effects of teachers on student achievement. Groups of students with similar abilities and initial achievement levels may have very different academic outcomes based on the sequence of teachers to which they are assigned. Friedman (2018) found that students who are placed with highly effective teachers for 3 years in a row significantly outperform their peers. However, the opposite is true as well. Students with ineffective teachers may not catch up to their peers for 3 or more years. In addition, having an effective teachers will not fully compensate for the effect of an ineffective one. Even more, students with three ineffective teachers rarely catch up. Friedman

indicated that differences in student achievement of up to 50 percentile points were observed as a result of teacher sequence after only three years. Lasting effects of both effective and ineffective teachers were measurable two years later, despite the effectiveness of teachers in later grades. There is little evidence to support compensatory effects of more effective teachers in later grades.

Students benefit from regularly yearly assignments to more effective teachers (Sanders & Rivers, 1996). When this happens, students have a significant advantage in obtaining higher achievement levels. Therefore, students should not be placed with an ineffective teacher more than once. The most important component of students' development and learning is high quality and effective teaching (Lynch, 2017).

Mobility

According to Auglier (2010), the mobility of the student population may affect the success of a looping classroom. If a student population is highly mobile, they may not remain long enough to obtain the benefits of a looped class (Pecanic, 2013). According to Gaustad (1998), joining a looped classroom, especially in the second year, can be difficult for new students. Gaustad noted that adding five or more new students in the second year could be disruptive enough to reduce the benefits of looping on the original students. The new students do not have the experiences and same knowledge as the rest of the class (Auglier, 2010). Furthermore, entering a looped classroom can disrupt the cohesiveness of the class and make the new student feel left out (Thompson et al., 2009).

New students or students who move away could be negatively affected if the teacher views the curriculum as a 2-year approach (Auglier, 2010). If the teacher plans the content over the course of two years, instead of teaching each year's curriculum, students could have gaps in

their learning. Students with disabilities can also be at a disadvantage (Pecanic, 2013). Although looping provides additional time for intervention and a delay in making decisions for special education referrals or retention, a looping teacher may delay putting off the decision for too long and the student could miss out on needed help.

Relationships

One main concern for parents about looping is the relationship between the student and the teacher if the teacher is ineffective. According to Thompson et al. (2009), parents do not want their child placed with an ineffective teacher for 2 or more years. Klinzing (2019) noted that looping will not be effective, and can be detrimental, if a student is with an ineffective teacher for 2 or more years. Teachers express the same concerns over the relationships with difficult students and parents.

According to Gaustad (1998) and Thomas (2014), some students and teachers may have emotional difficulty leaving their class at the end of a looping cycle. There is a possibility of becoming too attached, which can make it difficult for the students to move on to a new classroom, and for the teacher beginning with a new group of students. Students and teachers need to make adjustments after spending 2 or more years together (Auglier, 2010). While remaining together can be beneficial for some students, it can also be a disadvantage for others. Students can become influenced by the same teacher and student strengths and weaknesses for a longer period of time and this can become a disadvantage if students begin to develop the same weaknesses (Pecanic, 2013). Familiarity with one another and problems related to this are magnified in a looped classroom.

While looping has both advantages and disadvantages, it can only be beneficial for the student and teacher if both parties are willing to participate (Meeks, 2008). Neither group will

fully benefit if this is forced. The way a teacher approaches looping is a key to its success. According to Grant et al. (n.d.), implementing looping well requires the support of administration, parents of the enrolled student, and an effective teacher.

Perceptions of Looping

Grant et al. (n.d.) indicated that parents, students, and teachers have positive experiences with looping. George and Shewey (1997) noted 70% of teachers reported looping enabled them to use more positive discipline techniques with students. The same study found that 92% of teachers said they had a more in-depth understanding of each child and 69% said they believed students participated more willingly in class. Even more than that, 84% of teachers reported that looping led to better relationships with parents. A looped school found that there were higher attendance rates of parents that attended open houses, overall parental involvement was higher, and the average daily attendance was higher, compared to a non-looped school (Grant et al., n.d.).

In a study conducted by Cistone and Shneyderman (2004), 94% of teachers and 91% of principals indicated that looping increased the time available to teachers at the beginning of the second year of the loop. 89% of principals and 71% of teachers found that this increase in time helped slower learners learn basic skills. In addition, 89% of principals and 72% of teachers stated that looping enhanced the relationship between teachers and students. Finally, 94% of principals and 95% of teachers indicated that looping increased the effectiveness of classroom instruction.

In Johnston's 2000 study, parents noted their students were more comfortable with school due to looping. This same study found that looping students in elementary school had a more positive attitude towards school. Pratt (2009) found that 100 percent of parents noted looping

was a positive experience for their child. Involvement in a looped classroom was found to be a significant predictor of positive parent perceptions of student motivation and attitude toward the school.

Nicholas and Nicholas (2002) found that parents of looping students had significantly more positive attitudes towards their child's teacher and school. In addition, parents had more positive perceptions of their children's behavior at school compared to parents of students in non-looped classrooms.

Williams-Wright (2013) conducted a mixed-methods study that investigated teachers' attitudes and perceptions and the effect of looping on academic achievement in elementary schools. Analysis of the teacher survey revealed that the majority of looped teacher perceived that looping teachers were able to improve students' academic achievement through positive long-term relationships with students and teacher-parent relationships. It was concluded that the majority of teachers had positive experiences teaching in a looped classroom.

Thomas (2014) conducted a qualitative study that described the nature of the looping cycle for elementary teachers. Teachers in the study indicated that looping was beneficial for all stakeholders and noted looping was successful and beneficial because of the relationships they were able to form with their students and families. Teachers also reported that looping was beneficial for students with special needs, English Language learners, and students living in poverty.

Student Achievement-Based Accountability

The literature presented in the sections above focused on the history, benefits, disadvantages, and perceptions related to looping. To frame the current state of educational reforms which has led schools or districts to return to strategies such as looping to improve

student achievement, the history of student achievement-based accountability is necessary (Findley, 2018).

In the 19th century, public education was supported through taxes (Sirotnik, 2004). State district school boards with elected members were legally obligated to the local community to ensure children that attended public schools were adequately housed, taught, and had needed materials. In rural district with one-room schoolhouses, which characterized most public schools until the end of the 19th century, this form of accountability was acceptable.

As the United States saw a growth in industrial economies with the rapid growth of cities, the number of schools expanded (Sirotnik, 2004). The board of education found it hard to supervise the growing number of schools, to examine teachers and students, and ensure school funds were spent appropriately. To manage accountability, boards began adopting efficiency measures of printed questions. Ove time, short-answer tests became standardized for each grade and subject and spread throughout the United States. By the end of the Civil War, most school boards had appointed a superintendent. Achievement tests helped the superintendent and school board assess what teachers had taught and what students had learned in their district. However, these results were rarely shared with the public. At the end of the 19th century and the beginning on the 20th century, standardized achievement test results were shared with the public. Public reports were a way to increase administrator and teacher efficiency.

Throughout the United States history, the focus on education by the federal government came during times of national concern or crisis (Findley, 2018). In 1958, President Dwight D. Eisenhower signed the National Defense Education Act, which led to multiple reforms that raised graduation requirements, added gifted programming, and introduced advanced placement (AP) courses in high schools (Sirotnik, 2004). Then, in 1964, President Lyndon B. Johnson

passed the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA). This provided funds for poor students to get a better education, thus improving their life chances. Senator Robert F. Kennedy attached an amendment to Title 1 of ESEA that required annual evaluations. Throughout the 1960s and 1970s, business and civic leaders encouraged legislatures to reform schools.

In 1983, *A Nation at Risk* was released (Findley, 2018; Sirotnik, 2004). This report was released by the National Commission on Excellence in Education (Park, 2004). The report noted mediocre student performance on national and international tests and coupled this performance to average economic performance in the global marketplace (Sirotnik, 2004). After *A Nation at Risk* was released, states increased high school graduation requirements, lengthened the school year, and added more testing.

In 1989, President George Bush brought all 50 governors together to discuss education (Sirotnik, 2004). They implemented six national goals, including decreasing dropout rates, adding science to the elementary curriculum, increase foreign language opportunities, and increasing national scores on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) (Findley, 2018). Throughout the 1990s, under President Clinton and federal policy makers, states continued to mandate curricular and performance standards, implement new testing, and held administrators and teachers accountable for increasing academic achievement (Sirotnik, 2004).

In 2000, the election of President George W. Bush brought the reauthorization of ESEA as the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001 (Findley, 2018). This act increased test-based accountability to federal policy for schools in America (Sirotnik, 2004). NCLB also implemented sanctions for schools that failed to meet Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) (Findley, 2018). In addition, NCLB mandated states to administer yearly assessments. These results gave new attention to student subgroups. NCLB focused on increasing the achievement of student

subgroups, including "economically disadvantaged students, students from major racial and ethnic groups, students with disabilities, and students with limited English proficiency" (NCLB, 2001).

In 2015, the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) was signed into law by President Barak Obama (ESSA, n.d.). The purpose of this act was to replace and update NCLB. This law retained the annual standardized testing requirements from NCLB but moved the federal accountability aspect to the States. Each state must submit an accountability plan to the Department of Education. States can select their own goals, but they must address test proficiency, Englishlanguage proficiency, and graduation rates (Klein, 2016). Accountability goals must set an expectation that all groups that are the farthest behind close the achievement gaps. States are still required to test students in reading and math, break out the data for whole school, as well as subgroups (English-learners, students in special education, racial minorities, and those in poverty).

Although the Tenth Amendment of the United States Constitution delegates the responsibility of education to the states, this history shows that the federal government's involvement has steadily increased over time (United States Constitution, Amendment X). Federal involvement has increased the policies and legislation for increased accountability of schools and individual student performance (Findley, 2018).

The Achievement Gap

Racial and ethnic inequality in education has a long history. In 1954, the Supreme Court ruled in Brown v. Board of Education that racial segregation of public schools was unconstitutional (Stanford CEPA, n.d.). Although substantial progress has been made in

improving the quality of education for minority students, disparities remain and progress has been slow and uneven (Ready et al., 2002; Stanford CEPA, n.d.).

The disparity that still exists include the achievement levels among minority students and Caucasian students on standardized assessments (Findley, 2018). One set of measures of racial educational equality are achievement gaps (Stanford CEPA, n.d.). In education, the achievement gap refers to the difference in academic achievement among groups of students (Ansell, 2011; Howard, 2019). The achievement gap is found in grades, standardized test scores, course section, dropout rates, and college completion rates, among other measures. Achievement gaps occur when one group of students outperforms another group and the difference in the average scores for the two groups is statistically significant (NAEP, 2020). Most often, it is used to describe the troubling performance gaps between African American and Hispanic students, compared to their non-Hispanic White peers. Minority students are more likely to score below proficiency on standardized assessments (Findley, 2018). A similar gap is also found between students from low-income families and those who are not. According to Ready et al. (2002), the achievement gap is magnified due to "demographic changes and the growing importance of education to individuals' financial security" (p. 16).

Additionally, federal legislation has increased pressure on schools and districts to improve achievement levels for all students (Findley, 2018). No Child Left Behind (NCLB), as well as the Every Child Succeeds Act (ESSA) emphasized the importance of improving achievement levels for all students, in particular for subgroups who have performed below their Caucasian peers.

Every 4 years, a sample of students across the United States are given tests in reading and math as part of the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) (Stanford CEPA, n.d.).

NAEP is designed to provide an objective assessment of the math and reading skills of students in America. NAEP results can also be used to analyze trends in White-Black and White-Hispanic achievement gaps. In general, these achievement gaps have narrowed since the 1970s in all grades in both subjects. According to Ready et al. (2002), the small change in national NAEP scores despite the rising scores of African Americans, Hispanics, and Whites, can be explained by the demographic decline of traditionally higher-scoring White test takers and the growing percentage of minorities in the national NAEP samples. In addition, the achievement gaps vary considerably among states.

NAEP results from 2017 suggested that American students of all backgrounds are still far from achieving at a level consistent with high standards for all (Harrington, 2017; Ready et al., 2002). In addition, Black and Hispanic students are far more likely than White students to score at or below basic in reading and in other subject areas. Even more, they are far less likely to demonstrate proficient and advanced skill levels.

Poor academic achievement has lasting effects past the time students are in the classroom (Harrington, 2017). Poor academic achievement can impact a student's ability to graduate from high school, go to college, or succeed in college. Students who do not progress through high school and college often have lower income and earning potential across their lifetime, fewer options for choosing their career, may become dependent on public assistance, and may have poor health.

Although there continue to be gaps in education achievement scores among subgroups, there is no reason why achievement gaps cannot be reduced and eventually eliminated (Ready et al., 2002). Research-based instructional reforms may accomplish this. Social, cultural, and economic factors affect learning, and success in achieving high standards for all must involve the

family, community, and societal changes. However, eliminating these gaps is a complex process and requires changes to happen on multiple levels with the support of different stakeholders, a variety of long-term interventions, and policy changes (Hanover Research, 2017).

Researchers have examined ways teaching can better resemble the home and community cultures of all students who have previously not had success academically (Howard, 2019; Ladson-Billings, 1995). The term *culturally appropriate pedagogy* sought to incorporate aspects of students' cultural backgrounds into the classroom environment. According to Ladson-Billings, culturally relevant pedagogical teachers encourage academic success and cultural competence, and help students recognize, understand, and critique current social inequities. In this way, educators should use a student's culture as a lens through which the student can be successful, learn about and celebrate their culture, and use their knowledge and education to solve problems and seek to decrease inequities (Findley, 2018).

Research indicated that family involvement is highly correlated with improving achievement gap outcomes (Hanover Research, 2017; Harrington, 2017). Family involvement can lead to increased student achievement, increased attendance and behavior, and improved graduation and college enrollment rates. Henderson and Mapp (2002) found that schools that successfully engaged families of diverse backgrounds focused on building trusting and collaborative relationships among families, teachers, and community members, recognized and respected families' needs as well as class and cultural differences, and embraced a philosophy of partnership.

School and classroom culture also play roles in reducing the achievement gap among minority students. Researchers found that when minority, English Language Learners (ELL), and special education students perceive their teachers as supportive, caring and responsive, and

respectful of their cultural differences, students are more likely to have higher academic achievement (Hanover Research, 2017).

To increase the achievement levels of minorities and low-income students, there must be a focus on three key areas: high standards, a challenging curriculum, and effective teachers (Haycock, 2001). Clear and public standards for what students should learn at each grade level is a key to solving the problem. They are a guide for all stakeholders as to what information and knowledge students should master. In 1991, Kentucky passed a standards-based reform by putting out a set of learning goals and stated that all students would meet those learning goals. Students have shown progress since then. For example, seven of the 20 top-performing elementary schools in reading scores were high-poverty. In math, eight of the 20 top-performing were high-poverty, and in writing, 13 of the top 20 were high-poverty.

Standards must be accompanied by a rigorous curriculum that is aligned to those standards (Haycock, 2001). Rigor should focus on the quality of teaching and learning. Research has shown that in high schools where students take more rigorous coursework, students learn more and perform better on tests. Curriculum should focus on first-order and higher-order learning outcomes (Boykin & Noguera, 2011). First-order outcomes include basic knowledge and skills, such as mastering the alphabetic code, word reading fluency, or vocabulary in literacy and basic facts and fact fluency in math. Students must also achieve higher-order learning outcomes, including knowledge-transfer skills. Students should be able to use knowledge from one area to solve problems in another area. In addition, they should be able to apply what they know, reflect on what they know, and be critical of their knowledge.

Finally, teachers must know the subjects and how to teach each subject (Haycock, 2001). However, large numbers of students, especially those who are economically disadvantaged or

who are members of minority groups, are taught by teachers without strong backgrounds in the subjects they teach. Students in high-poverty schools are more likely to be taught by teachers, in all subjects, without even a minor in the subjects they teach. The quality of a teacher makes the biggest difference in learning outcomes.

Research has been conducted and instructional strategies have been implemented to reduce the achievement gap among subgroups, however, the national achievement gap today is similar to what is was 20 years ago (Boykin & Noguera, 2011; Howard, 2019). Evidence-based instructional methods may not be enough to close the achievement gap if they cannot take place during the classroom instructional time (Konrad et al., 2011). Therefore, teachers must maximize instructional time, called "instructional efficiency" to close the achievement gap. For a teacher to be instructionally efficient, they must teach and manage the classroom in a way that yields desired outcomes without using additional time, effort, or resources. To become more instructionally efficient, teachers must consider different factors when planning, delivering, and evaluating their instruction.

In planning for instruction, it is vital that teachers are organized, set the stage for learning, and make strategic decisions about what to teach (Konrad et al., 2011). A teacher is instructionally efficient when they match their instruction with their students' learning needs. Finally, teachers should constantly evaluate what their students have learned by administering formative assessments to analyze student progress, evaluate the effectiveness of their instruction, and collect data to make decisions about upcoming instruction. Students in subgroups require instruction that is effective and efficient to help close the achievement gaps. High rates of learning can occur when efficient methods are implemented by the teacher. If students who are

behind academically increase their learning rates, they are more likely to make progress toward achieving comparable achievement levels compared to their peers.

With the nationwide focus on increasing student achievement and narrowing the achievement gap, it is imperative for educators and administrators to be aware of and implement research-based instructional strategies (Findley, 2018). Some schools and districts have implemented looping as a method of helping students meet state and national expectations (Williams-Wright, 2013).

Research Related to Academic Achievement and Looping

In a response to federal legislation and increased accountability for student achievement, some school districts and schools have implemented the strategy of looping as a way of increasing student achievement (Harrington, 2017; Williams-Wright, 2013). There has been research conducted on the achievement gains of students in looping classrooms (Findley, 2018; Murphy, 2002). This section of the literature review looks at studies examining the relationship between academic achievement and looping in different school settings, who have implemented looping to improve student outcomes.

According to Forsten et al. (1997), students in one district made significant gains on the end of year state tests. In part, the superintendent credited 2-year looping cycles with the same teacher for this gain.

Skinner (1998) analyzed student achievement in reading, language arts, and math from students in both looped and nonlooped classrooms. No statistically significant difference was found in math or reading achievement on the Missouri Mastery Achievement Test (MMAT) between students in looped and nonlooped classrooms (Snoke, 2007). A significant difference was found in the area of language arts skills, such as writing and spelling,

Hampton et al. (1998) investigated the relationship between Project FAST (Families Are Students and Teachers) and student achievement levels. Project FAST implemented looping in kindergarten through second grade, in addition to parent education opportunities to help parents support their child's education (Findley, 2018). Schools reported a significant increase on both student academic achievement and parental involvement as a result of looping. Specifically, students in looped classrooms exhibited higher reading and mathematics achievement scores on standardized tests than students in nonlooped classrooms. In addition to increased academic achievement, teachers reported an increase sense of ownership for student outcomes.

Shneyderman (2000) found advantages to the multi-year teaching assignment in their research. In this study, looping was used in 26 elementary schools. The study was conducted to compare the benefits and disadvantages of looping versus nonlooping classrooms. Students in the looped classrooms performed significantly higher on reading comprehension and mathematics assessments on the Florida Comprehensive Assessment Test (FCAT) compared to the students in the nonlooped classrooms.

In 2006, Fuller analyzed the scores of the Mississippi Curriculum Test (MCT) among seventh and eighth graders who looped compared to those that did not loop. The scores of the looped students had greater improvement than their nonlooped peers. In addition, students from the poverty group who looped from seventh to eighth grade scored significantly higher in their language scores than students from the nonpoverty group.

Snoke (2007) conducted a study comparing the achievement, retention, and special education placement of students in looping classrooms compared to students in traditional classrooms. In this study, Snoke analyzed math and reading scores on the Pennsylvania System of Schools Assessment for third, fifth, and eighth grades in looped and nonlooped classrooms.

The study concluded that there was no statistically significant difference in achievement scores of students in looped and nonlooped classrooms. The study also concluded that there was no significant increase in academic achievement in reading or math among sub-groups, including gender and socio-economic level.

Hertich (2009) conducted a study and examined results from the Standardized Test for the Assessment of Reading (STAR) Reading and STAR Math assessments from students who had looped from second to third grade (as cited in Brown, 2011). Results showed that minorities and students of low socioeconomic status who had looped outperformed their peers who did not loop on both assessments. In addition, a study conducted by Caauwe (2009) found no statistical difference in reading between looping and nonlooping students. The results from the study indicated that students in looped classrooms scored significantly in math higher than those in nonlooped classrooms.

Williams-Wright (2013) conducted a study using achievement scores from the Mississippi Curriculum Test, Second Edition (MCT2) in language arts and math. Results found statistically significant differences in looped and nonlooped students' scores in language arts and math. Students that looped scored lower than nonlooped students.

Lloyd (2014) conducted a study that compared the achievement scores of students that experienced looping compared to those that received a traditional assignment (a new teacher each year). Lloyd used results from the Measures of Academic Progress. The results of the study found that students who experienced looping did not have significant increases on academic achievement compared to peers who experienced a traditional assignment. Lloyd noted that more research is needed between groups of looped and nonlooped students, especially in diverse populations.

Washington (2015) conducted a quantitative study that compared the reading and math equivalences of second, third, and fourth grade students that participated in looped classrooms compared to students that did not. The outcomes of Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) were compared between students receiving instruction in a looped classroom and students receiving instruction in a nonlooped classroom. Results found there was a statistically significant difference in the outcome of Reading/Language Arts and Math achievement between nonlooped and looped students. The percentage of students at or above grade level was significantly higher from students in looped classrooms compared to peers in nonlooped classrooms.

In 2016, Phelps conducted a study that investigated the possible relationship between looping and nonlooping classrooms in Title 1 elementary schools in East Tennessee. Phelps analyzed STAR reading and math scores. The analysis found that the gain scores were higher for nonlooped students, but the difference between the two groups was statistically significant only for the students' gain scores in math. However, below-grade level readers in looped classrooms showed higher mean growth compared to their nonlooped peers.

Findley (2018) investigated the relationship between student assignments to a classroom implementing looping and student achievement on the End-of-Grade (EOG) in an elementary school. Findley also analyzed subgroup data to examine the relationship between the placement in a looped classroom and EOG achievement results. Findley found that students' assignment to a looped classroom did not have a statistically significant impact on student achievement. Results did indicate that looping positively impacted math achievement levels for students in the African American subgroup but did not have a statistically significant impact for other subgroups.

Klinzing (2019) found that looping can improve test scores and the effects are largest for minorities. According to Burke (1997), students who looped scored higher on their reading and

math standardized tests compared to students who did not loop. In addition, Bogart (2002) found that looping contributed to an increase in the achievement scores of third graders. This student found benefits after the first year of looping, and more evidence of higher achievement after the second year of looping. In addition, Caauwe (2009) noted that academic benefits included improved academic achievement scores, and students felt more enthusiastic in general toward learning.

The structure of a looped classroom is effective in providing additional opportunities for increased academic achievement (Pecanic, 2003). In addition to increased time on task, teachers are better able to meet individual learning needs since they have more time to observe students and analyze their learning needs and learning styles. Teachers can also begin to cover advanced curriculum (Agulier, 2010). As the first year's curriculum is mastered, teachers can move on to the second year's content, and then continue this learning in the second year by expanding on this knowledge and going more in depth in certain areas (Grant et al., 1996). Finally, teachers can build on students' prior knowledge and experience from the previous year (Pecanic, 2003).

Chapter Summary

The literature reviewed in this chapter includes theories, a historical background of looping, as well as benefits and disadvantages associated with looping. Additionally, an overview of student-based accountability and the achievement gap, as well as a review of qualitative and quantitative research previously conducted regarding the impacts is included.

Chapter 3. Methodology

The purpose of the quantitative study was to determine if there was a significant difference in the academic performance of students at the elementary level who loop compared to those who do not. This study also assessed if there was a significant difference in academic achievement among subgroups in students that loop compared to those that do not. A quantitative, ex post-facto, comparative design was used to analyze data to determine if there is a relationship between looping and academic achievement for elementary students. This chapter describes the reason the research was conducted, research design, population studied, data collection, and data analysis.

Research Questions and Null Hypotheses

The following research questions were addressed through testing corresponding null hypotheses:

RQ1: Is there a significant difference in reading scores between students participating in

looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

 H_{01} . There is no significant difference in reading scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

- RQ2: Is there a significant difference in math scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms?
 H₀₂. There is no significant difference in math scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms.
- RQ3: Is there a significant difference in writing scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms?
 H₀₃. There is no significant difference in writing scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

RQ4: Is there a significance difference in reading scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho4₁. There is no significant difference in reading scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms.

Ho4_{2.} There is no significant difference in reading scores between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms.

RQ5: Is there a significance difference in math scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho5₁. There is no significant difference in math scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms.

Ho5₂. There is no significant difference in math scores between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms.

RQ6: Is there a significance difference in writing scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho6₁. There is no significant difference in writing scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms.

Ho6₂. There is no significant difference in writing scores between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms.

RQ7: Is there a significance difference in reading scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho7₂. There is no significant difference in reading scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms.

Ho7_{2.} There is no significant difference in reading scores between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

RQ8: Is there a significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho8₁. There is no significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms.

Ho8_{2.} There is no significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

RQ9: Is there a significant difference in writing scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho9₁. There is no significant difference in writing scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms.

Ho9₂. There is no significant difference in writing scores between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

Sample

The sample for this study consisted of students in four elementary schools in a single school district in East Tennessee. Two classrooms used looping, and two classrooms were traditional, nonlooped classrooms. The classroom in School A used looping and was of higher socioeconomic status (SES). The classroom in School B did not use looping was also of higher SES. The classroom in School C used looping and was of lower SES. The classroom in School D did not use looping and was also of lower SES.

The sample consisted of 219 students who had completed a looping cycle in 2019 -2020 at School A and School C. The sample also included all students that were in self-contained classrooms at School B and School D. Table 1 outlines the specific demographics for the sample. In a small number of cases, students opted out of the looping program after the first year, moved away, or were retained, and did not complete the 2 year looping cycle. If both years had not been spent with the same teacher for 2 consecutive years, those students were excluded from the study. A total number of 20 students did not complete a looping cycle at the research schools; therefore, the achievement scores and demographic data have been omitted from the analysis. Students who were enrolled in a traditional one-year design had to have spent both years at their respective school. Otherwise, they were excluded from the study. A total number of 28 students did not spend both years at their respective school; therefore, the achievement scores and demographic data have been omitted from the analysis. Of the 219 students in the sample, 111 had been enrolled in a looping design at their schools and remained with the same teacher for both years; 108 students had been enrolled in a single-year traditional design at the same school and had been taught by two different teachers.

Table 1

Study Population Demographics

Student	School A:	School B:	School C:	School D:
Count	Looping,	Self-	Looping,	Self-
	High SES	contained,	Low SES	contained,
		High SES		Low SES
Total	67	61	44	46
Male	43	28	19	26
Female	24	33	25	20
Caucasian	61	57	35	32
African	0	1	0	4
American				
Asian	0	0	0	1
Hispanic	1	1	4	2
Mixed	5	2	5	7
Race				

Data Source

The researcher examined individual student data of students in four classrooms within the same school district in East Tennessee. Two classrooms used looping and two classrooms were traditional, nonlooped classrooms. Pertinent data included scores from the Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA), math benchmark scores, and writing assessment scores. These forms of data collection are used at the elementary level in this school district.

Data for each of these measures is kept on a district and school-wide spreadsheet. Scores for the DRA have a range from A-50. The score of an A is a prereading score, beginning in kindergarten. The scores progress as a student's reading proficiency in fluency and comprehension grows, ending with the score of a 50, typically around fifth grade. These scores are converted into numeric scores of one to four to show degrees of proficiency. These translated scores align with how elementary teachers give grades on report cards. Scores for the writing assessments also range from one to four; one is non- proficient, or 74%, two is basic, or 84%, three is grade-level, or 92% and four is above grade-level, or 100%. Scores for the math benchmarks are based on the number of assessment questions that the student answered correctly. The final grade is the percentage correct out of 100% total.

Data Collection

After receiving approval from the researcher's dissertation committee and the East Tennessee State University Institutional Research Board (IRB), the researcher worked with the school district to obtain the data. The data used in this study were existing data from the school district. All personal identifiers were removed from the data before the researcher obtained the data to insure confidentiality for all participants. Random codes were assigned to replace student names and other identifying information. School and teacher names were not used and were given a pseudonym. The school district does not make student-level data available to the public. Access to the data is permitted by the ability of the district staff to monitor the data release and the perceived benefits. The researcher used the data request form sent by the district's Chief Academic Officer.

Data Analysis

Each of the nine research questions was addressed by the use of an independent t-test in order to make a comparison between two sets of data. The independent variables for this study were the type of classroom the student is assigned, looped or nonlooped, and student subgroups. The dependent variables for this study were the student achievement scores on the DRA (reading), writing, and math assessments. All data were analyzed using Statistical Program for Social Sciences (SPSS) and at the 0.05 level of significance.

Chapter Summary

This chapter provides the reason the research was conducted, research design, population studied, data collection, and data analysis. This quantitative, ex-post facto study used a series of independent t-test tests to determine if there are significant differences in student achievement on the DRA, math benchmarks, and writing assessments among students in looped versus nonlooped classrooms. The results are presented in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4. Findings

The purpose of the quantitative study was to determine if there was a significant difference in the academic performance of students at the elementary level who loop compared to those who do not. This study also assessed if there was a significant difference in academic achievement among subgroups in students that loop compared to those that do not. A quantitative, ex post-facto, comparative design was used to analyze data to determine if there is a relationship between looping and academic achievement for elementary students. The data used in this study were existing data. All personal identifiers were removed from the data before the researcher obtained the data to insure confidentiality for all participants.

Nine research questions were developed to guide the study. An independent t-test was used to test the null hypotheses that correspond to the nine research questions.

Research Question 1

Is there a significant difference in reading scores between students participating in looping classrooms or between students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

 H_{01} . There is no significant difference in reading scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate whether there is a significant difference between reading scores of students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms. The independent variable included two levels: students who participated in looped classrooms or students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the reading assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for reading scores of looped and nonlooped students, as assessed

by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(217) = .638, (p=.425). There was no statistically significant difference in the reading scores for looped students (M=3.2, SD=1.02) and nonlooped students (M=3.1, SD=1.05) conditions; t(216) = .538, p=.591. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the reading scores of looped and nonlooped students. Figure 1 shows the reading scores for looped and nonlooped students.

Figure 1





Research Question 2

Is there a significant difference in math scores between students participating in looping classrooms or between students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

 H_{02} . There is no significant difference in math scores between students participating in

looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate whether there is a significant difference between math scores of students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms. The independent variable included two levels: students who participated in looped classrooms or students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the math benchmark. There was not homogeneity of variances for reading scores of looped and nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances F(217) = 7.027, (p=.009). There was a statistically significant difference in the math scores for looped students (M=73.4, SD=16.7) and nonlooped students (M=68.3, SD=20.9) conditions; t(216) = -.2.010, p=.04. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, suggesting that a significant difference was exhibited between the math scores of looped and nonlooped students. In general, students who participated in looped classrooms scored significantly higher on the math benchmark than students who participated in nonlooped students. Figure 2 shows the math benchmark scores for looped and nonlooped students.

Figure 2





Research Question 3

Is there a significant difference in writing scores between students participating in looping classrooms or between students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

 H_{03} . There is no significant difference in writing scores between students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate whether there is a significant difference between writing scores of students participating in looping classrooms and students participating in nonlooping classrooms. The independent variable included two levels: students who participated in looped classrooms or students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the reading assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for writing scores of looped and nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(217) = .996, (p=.319). There was no statistically significant difference in the writing scores for looped students (M=2.9, SD=.78) and nonlooped students (M=2.8, SD=.81) conditions; t(216) = 1.30, p=.195. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the writing scores of looped and nonlooped students. Figure 3 shows the writing scores for looped and nonlooped students.

Figure 3

Writing Scores for Looped and Nonlooped Students



Research Question 4

Is there a significance difference in reading scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho4₁. There is no significant difference in reading scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms.

Ho4_{2.} There is no significant difference in reading scores between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho4₁. The independent variable, student gender, included two levels (male, female) in looped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the reading assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for reading scores of looped and nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for

Equality of Variances, F(111) = .794, (p=.375). There was no statistically significant difference in the reading scores for looped female students (M=3.2, SD=.978) and looped male students (M=3.2, SD=1.06) conditions; t(109) = .193, p=.848. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the reading scores of males and females in looped classrooms. Figure 4 shows the reading scores for males and females in looped classrooms.

Figure 4

Reading Scores for Males and Females in Looped Classrooms



An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho4₂. The independent variable, student gender, included two levels (male, female) in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the reading assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was not homogeneity of variances for reading scores of female and male nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(107) = .638, (p=.048). There was no statistically significant difference in the reading scores for nonlooped female students (M=3.2, SD=.958) and nonlooped

male students (M=3.0, SD=1.13) conditions; t(105) = .931, p=.354. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the reading scores of males and females in nonlooped classrooms. Figure 5 shows the reading scores for males and females in nonlooped classrooms.

Figure 5

Reading Scores for Males and Females in Nonlooped Classrooms



Research Question 5

Is there a significance difference in math scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho5₁. There is no significant difference in math scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms.

Ho5_{2.} There is no significant difference in math scores between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho5₁. The independent variable, student gender, included two levels (male, female) in looped classrooms. The dependent variable was

student achievement scores on the math assessment, where numeric scores are based on the number of correct questions. There was homogeneity of variances for math scores of female and male looped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(111) = .001, (p=.979). There was no statistically significant difference in the math scores for looped female students (M=70.30, SD=16.46) and looped male students (M=75.96, SD=16.64) conditions; t(109) = 1.78, p=.077. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the math scores of males and females in looped classrooms.

Figure 6





An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho5_{2.} The independent variable, student gender, included two levels (male, female) in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the math assessment, where numeric are based on the number of correct questions. There was homogeneity of variances for math scores of female and male nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(107) = .039, (p=.845). There was no statistically significant difference in the math scores for nonlooped
female students (M=70.56, SD=.20.42) and nonlooped male students (M=66.11, SD=21.40) conditions; t(105) = 1.10, p=.273. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the math scores of males and females in nonlooped classrooms. Figure 7 shows the reading scores for males and females in nonlooped classrooms.

Figure 7

Math Scores for Males and Females in Nonlooped Classrooms



Research Question 6

Is there a significance difference in writing scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms or between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho6₁. There is no significant difference in writing scores between males and females participating in looping classrooms.

Ho6₂. There is no significant difference in writing scores between males and females participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho6₁. The independent variable, student gender, included two levels (male, female) in looped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the writing assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for writing scores of female and male looped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(111) = 2.95, (p=.088). There was no statistically significant difference in the writing scores for looped female students (M=3.12, SD=.665) and looped male students (M=2.87, SD=.858) conditions; *t*(109) = 1.68, *p*=.094. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the writing scores of males and females in looped classrooms. Figure 8 shows the writing scores for males and females in looped classrooms.

Figure 8

Writing Scores for Males and Females in Looped Classrooms



An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate $Ho6_{2}$. The independent variable, student gender, included two levels (male, female) in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was

student achievement scores on the writing assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for writing scores of female and male nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(107) = .2.03, (p=.157). There was a statistically significant difference in the writing scores for nonlooped female students (M=3.03, SD=.783) and nonlooped male students (M=2.64, SD=.804) conditions; t(105) = 2.53, p=.013. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, suggesting that a significant difference was exhibited between the writing scores of males and females in nonlooped classrooms. In general, females who participated in nonlooped classrooms. Figure 9 shows the writing scores for males and females in nonlooped classrooms.

Figure 9

Writing Scores for Males and Females in Nonlooped Classrooms



Research Question 7

Is there a significance difference in reading scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho7₁. There is no significant difference in reading scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms.

Ho7_{2.} There is no significant difference in reading scores between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho7₁. The independent variable, student ethnicity, included two levels (minority, non-minority) in looped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the reading assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for reading scores of looped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(111) = .656, (p=.420). There was no statistically significant difference in the reading scores for looped minority students (M=2.86, SD=1.12) and looped nonminority students (M=3.28, SD=1.00) conditions; t(109) = 1.46, p=.146. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the reading scores of minorities in looped classrooms. Figure 10 shows the reading scores for minority students in looped classrooms.

Figure 10

Reading Scores for Minorities and Nonminority Students in Looped Classrooms



An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho7₂. The independent variable, student ethnicity, included two levels (minority, nonminority) in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the reading assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for reading scores of minority and nonminority nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(107) = 1.00, (p=.318). There was not a statistically significant difference in the reading scores for nonlooped minority students (M=2.88, SD=1.18) and nonlooped nonminority students (M=3.20, SD=1.02) conditions; t(105) = 1.15, p=.252. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the reading scores of minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms. Figure 11 shows the reading scores for minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms.

Figure 11

Reading Scores for Minority and Nonminority Students in Nonlooped Classrooms



Research Question 8

Is there a significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students

participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho8₁. There is no significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms.

Ho8_{2.} There is no significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate $Ho8_1$. The independent variable, student ethnicity, included two levels (minority, non-minority) in looped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the math assessment, where numeric are based on the number of correct questions. There was homogeneity of variances for math scores of minority and nonminority looped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(111) = .366, (p=.547). There was no statistically significant difference in the math scores for looped minority students (M=70.66, SD=19.35) and looped nonminority students (M=73.90, SD=16.35) conditions; t(109) = .696, p=.488. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the math scores of minorities and nonminorities in looped classrooms. Figure 12 shows the math scores for minority and nonminority students in looped classrooms.

Figure 11

Math Scores for Minorities and Nonminority Students in Looped Classrooms



An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho8₂. The independent variable, student ethnicity, included two levels (minority, nonminority) in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the math assessment, where numeric are based on the number of correct questions. There was not homogeneity of variances for math scores of minority and nonminority nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(107) = 5.29, (p=.023). There was a statistically significant difference in the math scores for nonlooped minority students (M=53.33, SD=26.89) and nonlooped nonminority students (M=71.34, SD=18.25) conditions; t(105) = 3.50, p=.001. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, suggesting that a significant difference was exhibited between the math scores of minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms. In general, nonminority students who participated in nonlooped classrooms scored significantly higher on the math assessment than minority students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. Figure 13 shows the math scores for minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms.

Figure 12

Math Scores for Minority and Nonminority Students in Nonlooped Classrooms



Research Question 9

Is there a significant difference in writing scores between minority and nonminority students

participating in looping classrooms or between minority and nonminority students

participating in nonlooping classrooms?

Ho9₁. There is no significant difference in writing scores between minority and nonminority students participating in looping classrooms.

Ho9₂. There is no significant difference in writing scores between minority and nonminority students participating in nonlooping classrooms.

An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho9₁. The independent variable, student ethnicity, included two levels (minority, non-minority) in looped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the writing assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was homogeneity of variances for writing scores of looped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(111) = .336, (p=.563). There was no statistically significant difference in the writing scores for looped minority students (M=2.86, SD=.833) and looped nonminority students (M=3.00, SD=.781) conditions; t(109) = .609, p=.544. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the writing scores of minorities in looped classrooms. Figure 14 shows the writing scores for minority students in looped classrooms.

Figure 13

Writing Scores for Minorities and Nonminority Students in Looped Classrooms



An independent t-test was conducted to evaluate Ho9₂. The independent variable, student ethnicity, included two levels (minority, nonminority) in nonlooped classrooms. The dependent variable was student achievement scores on the writing assessment, where numeric scores of one to four show degrees of proficiency: 1=74%, 2=84%, 3=92%, and 4=100%. There was not homogeneity of variances for writing scores of minority and nonminority nonlooped students, as assessed by Levene's Test for Equality of Variances, F(107) = 6.72, (p=.011). There was not a statistically significant difference in the writing scores for nonlooped minority students (M=2.66, SD=1.08) and nonlooped nonminority students (M=2.87, SD=.751) conditions; *t*(105) = .997, *p*=.321. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained, suggesting that little difference was exhibited between the writing scores of minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms. Figure 15 shows the writing scores for minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms.

Figure 14





Chapter Summary

Chapter 4 presents the analysis of data contained from the school district. The data included students in four classrooms within the same school district in East Tennessee. Two classrooms used looping and two classrooms were traditional, nonlooped classrooms. Pertinent data included scores from the Developmental Reading Assessment (DRA), math benchmark scores, and writing assessment scores. These forms of data collection are used at the elementary level in this school district. The researcher observed that overall, students who participated in looped classrooms scored higher on the math benchmark than students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. However, there was no significant difference in reading or writing benchmark scores between students who participate in looped classrooms compared to students who participated in nonlooped classrooms.

The researcher also observed that there was a significant difference in writing scores between males and females in nonlooped classrooms, with females scoring higher than males. However, there was no significant difference in writing scores between males and females in looped classrooms. In addition, no significant difference was found between males and females in looped and nonlooped classrooms in either reading or math scores.

Finally, the researcher observed that there was a significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms, with nonminority students scoring higher than minority students. However, there was no significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students in looped classrooms. In addition, no significant difference was found between minority and nonminority students in looped and nonlooped classrooms in either reading or writing scores.

Chapter 5. Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This chapter contains a summary of the findings, conclusions, and recommendation for future research. There has been an emphasis on increasing student achievement scores since policies and/or studies developed by both Federal and State governments were released, such as *A Nation at Risk* (1983), and *No Child Left Behind* (2001) (Findley, 2018). However, many students do not meet the basic standards in core subjects. Additionally, there is a continued achievement gap between White, Hispanic, and Black populations (Danley, 2012). In an effort to narrow the achievement gap for all students, one instructional strategy, known as looping, has been implemented by educators, which may help school districts meet these challenges issued by the Federal and State governments (Findley, 2018; Minkel, 2015; Phelps, 2016). Thus, this study served to determine if there was a significant difference in the academic performance of students at the elementary level who loop compared to those who do not. This study also assessed if there was a significant difference in academic achievement among subgroups in students who loop compared to those who do not.

Discussion and Conclusions

Research Questions 1, 2, and 3 focused on the academic achievement scores in reading, writing, and math between looped and nonlooped students. The researcher found that students who participated in looped classrooms scored higher on the math benchmark than students who participated in nonlooped classrooms. This finding supports previous studies that found that students in looped classrooms exhibited higher math achievement scores than those in nonlooped classrooms (Burke, 1997; Caauwe, 2009; Hampton et al., 1998; Washington, 2015). However, there was no significant difference in reading or writing benchmark scores between students who participated in looped classrooms compared to students who participated in nonlooped

classrooms. This supports Skinner (1998), Snoke (2007) and Lloyd (2014), who found no significant difference in reading scores from students in both looped and nonlooped classrooms. However, this finding conflicts with Shneyderman (2000) and Washington (2015), who found students in looped classrooms scored significantly higher on reading assessments compared to nonlooped students.

Research Questions 4, 5, and 6 focused on academic achievement scores in reading, writing, and math among subgroups, including gender, between looped and nonlooped students. The researcher found that there was a significant difference in writing scores between males and females in nonlooped classrooms, with females scoring higher than males. However, there was no significant difference in writing scores between males and females in looped classrooms. This could suggest looping is a beneficial strategy, as students' scores stayed consistent between year 1 and 2 for looped students in all subject areas. However, there was a significant difference in the writing scores of males and females when they did not participate in looped classrooms, with males scoring lower than females. Additionally, no significant difference was found between males and females in looped and nonlooped classrooms in either reading or math scores.

Research Questions 7, 8, and 9 focused on academic achievement scores in reading, writing, and math among subgroups, including minorities, between looped and nonlooped students. The researcher found that there was a significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms, with nonminority students scoring higher than minority students. However, there was no significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students in looped classrooms. In addition, no significant difference was found between minority and nonminority students in looped classrooms in either reading or writing scores.

There was no statistically significant difference in math scores between minority and nonminority students in looped classrooms. This could suggest that looping is an effective strategy for minority students, as their scores stayed in line with nonminority students compared to minority students in nonlooped classrooms, who scored lower than nonminority students. This would support Hertich (2009), who found that minorities who loop outperform their peers who do not loop on reading and math assessments. The achievement gap for minority students continues to be a persistent problem and despite efforts, little progress has been made. Therefore, any strategy which indicates the ability to impact the achievement gap which is persistent for minority students deserves the attention and consideration by school districts and educational leaders (Boykin & Noguera, 2011).

The results from this study indicated a significant difference in math scores in two areas, including between looped and nonlooped students, and between minority and nonminority students in nonlooped classrooms, with minority students scoring lower than nonminority students. The math benchmark is based on the number of assessment questions that the student answered correctly. The final grade is the percentage correct out of 100% total. This is different from the DRA and writing assessment, which are given and scored by the teacher. This could lead to teacher influence in reading and writing scores, since it is not based on percentage correct. This was a factor that could not be ruled out in the study.

Implications for Practice

In order for students to be productive citizens, they must develop competency in reading, writing, and math (Danley, 2012). The quantitative data analysis revealed there are some positive outcomes when implementing looping. This study indicated a significant difference in academic achievement levels for looped students compared to nonlooped students, as measured by the

math benchmark. The mixed findings of this study are consistent with the previous research related to the benefits and challenges of looping (Fuller, 2006; Hampton et al., 1998; Hertich, 2009; Lloyd, 2014; Skinner, 1998; Snoke, 2007; Washington, 2015). The following implications for practice emerged as a result of the current study:

- 1. Districts and educational leaders should consider implementing specific strategies which shows the ability to increase the academic achievement among students.
- Since looping is a complicated process with mixed outcomes, school districts and leaders should be thorough in their research and decision to implement looping (Findley, 2018). School districts should fully explore the benefits and challenges related to looping and the individual school environment in which they intend to implement looping.
- 3. School districts and leaders should focus on a comprehensive approach to raising the achievement gap for students within subgroups, including incorporating aspects of students' cultural background into the classroom environments, engaging families of diverse backgrounds, and focusing on building relationships (Hanover Research, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 1995;). These, along with a focus on high standards, a challenging curriculum, and effective teachers, can support students in closing the achievement gap (Haycock, 2001). Strategies, such as looping, which focus on relationships and family involvement, can work together to begin to narrow this gap.
- Leaders should be aware of the qualities of an effective teacher and keep these in mind when deciding which students to place with a teacher for more than one school year.

Recommendations for Future Research

Based on the results of this study and the literature reviewed for this study, further research is needed to provide additional information on the benefits of looping, especially among subgroups. This study was not intended to determine the causation of the relationship, only that they do exist. The recommendations for future research include the following:

- A qualitative study should be conducted in order to further examine the motivational and intrinsic needs for students involved in looping programs. These variables may be of interest for the selection of students that participate in the looping cycle.
- 2. Conduct follow up research using the same cohort of students to evaluate academic achievement on standardized assessments, such as TN Ready or TCAP.
- 3. Conduct a longitudinal study using the same cohort of students to evaluate academic achievement in further grades, including into middle and high school.
- 4. Conduct a quantitative study on subgroups, including economically disadvantaged students, retained, academically gifted, and special education, to assess if looping makes a significant difference in the academic achievement levels.
- Conduct a quantitative study to investigate attendance rates of students and teachers, student retentions, and referrals to special education between looped and nonlooped students.
- 6. Examine the academic achievement levels of students in other settings, such as rural or urban, or with a larger population of students assigned to classrooms practicing looping and nonlooping to determine the significance of the school setting on student achievement.
- 7. Conduct research on the characteristics of teacher effectiveness for looped classrooms to explore the impact on student success. This study could examine the quality of teacher

and the chosen teaching styles or methods implemented by the teacher to see if there are effects on learning within a looped classroom. Including measures of teacher effectiveness would allow for the researcher to determine if it was the quality of the teacher that impacted learning rather than looping or nonlooping.

Chapter Summary

Chapter 5 includes an overview of the related literature, a statement of the problem that the research was analyzing, discussion and conclusions of the study, implications for practice, and recommendations for further research. The researcher found that overall, students who looped scored significantly higher on the math benchmark compared to nonlooped students. In addition, females scored higher on the writing assessment in nonlooped classrooms, and nonminority students scored higher on the writing assessment compared to minority students in nonlooped classrooms.

Several implications for practice were derived from this study including consideration by leaders to implement strategies that are effective for increased academic achievement for students. Additionally, leaders should be aware of the benefits and challenges associated with looping before implementing it into schools.

While the results of this study support much previous research, several recommendations for additional research were presented. Further investigation is needed into student characteristics that contribute to success in the looping cycle. In addition, further research is needed to determine if the quality of the instructor in looped classrooms is related to increased academic achievement, and several longitudinal quantitative studies could be implemented to assess achievement on standardized tests or academic achievement in later grades.

References

- Anderson, J.A. (2005). Accountability in education. Stedi Media.
- Ansell, S. (2011, July 7). Achievement gap. Education Week.

https://www.edweek.org/ew/issues/achievement-gap/index.html

- Aguilar, G. (2010). Looping: Building strong relationships between teachers, students, families. [All Graduate Projects, Central Washington University]. <u>https://digitalcommons.cwu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1103&context=graduate_projects</u>
- Bafile, C. (2009). In the loop: Students and teachers progressing together. *Education World*. <u>https://www.educationworld.com/a_admin/admin/admin120.shtml</u>
- Bamford, C., & Utne, E. (2020). *Rudolf Steiner and the history of Waldorf education*. Waldorf Education. <u>https://www.waldorfeducation.org/waldorf-education/Rudolf-steiner-the-history-of-waldorf-education</u>

Barger, T.M. (2013). Impact of looping on middle school science standardized achievement tests. (Order no. 3559751) [Doctoral dissertation, Liberty University]. <u>https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/135449084</u> <u>4?accountid=10771</u>

- Barro, S.M. & Kolstad, A.J. (1987). Who drops out of high school? Findings from high school and beyond. U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics.
- Beaver, J., & Carter, M. (2019). Developmental reading assessment: (3rd ed.). Pearson. <u>https://www.pearsonassessments.com/store/usassessments/en/Store/Professional-</u> <u>Assessments/Academic-Learning/Developmental-Reading-Assessment-%7C-Third-Edition/p/100001913.html</u>

Bergin, C., & Bergin, D. (2009). Attachment in the classroom. *Educational Psychology Review*, 21(2), 141-140.

https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=04ce15fa-9bdd-4a14-b703-ec70f75e26cf%40sdc-v-sessmgr02

- Bogart, V.S. (2002). *The effects of looping on the academic achievement of elementary school students* (Publication number 707) [Doctoral dissertation, East Tennessee State University]. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/707/
- Brown, L.C. (2011). Experiences of looping for students with learning disabilities: A phenomenological case study. [Doctoral dissertation, Liberty University]. https://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=http://scholar.google.com /&httpsredir=1&article=1511&context=doctoral
- Boykin, A.W., & Noguera, P. (2011). Creating the opportunity to learn: Moving from research to practice to close the achievement gap. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Burke, D.L. (1997). *Looping: Adding time, strengthening relationships*. ERIC Digest. https://www.ericdigests.org/1998-2/looping.htm
- Caauwe, C.M. (2009). The impact of looping practices on student achievement at a Minnesota inner city elementary school (ED512646) [Doctoral dissertation, Saint Mary's University of Minnesota]. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED512646.pdf</u>

Cathey, J. (2015). *Middle school teachers' perceptions of grade level retentions*. (Order no. 3709206) [Doctoral dissertation, Tennessee State University]. https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/169824259 5?accountid=10771 Cherry, K. (2019). Self-determination theory and motivation.

https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-self-determination-theory-2795387

Chirichello, M., & Chirichello, C. (2001). A standing ovation for looping: The critics respond.

Childhood Education, 78(1).

https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?v=2.1&it=r&sw=w&id=GALE%7CA79474918&prodId=AO

NE&sid=googleScholarFullText&lat=36.4412928&lng=-

82.5720832&userGroupName=tel_main&isGeoAuthType=true

Cistone, P.J. & Shneyderman, A. (2004). Looping: An empirical evaluation. *International Journal of Educational Policy, Research, and Practice, 5*(1).

https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ795197

Daggett, W.R. (2014). *The Daggett system for effective instruction: Where research and best practices meet.* International Center for Leadership in Education.

https://leadered.com/wp-

content/uploads/Daggett_System_for_Effective_Instruction_2014.pdf

- Danley, A.J. (2012). The effects of a looping classroom among third grade students in an urban school district [Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri-Kansas]. <u>https://mospace.umsystem.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10355/14831/DaneyEffLooCla.pd</u> <u>f?sequence=1</u>
- Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M. (1999). A meta-analytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards on intrinsic motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 125(6), 627-668. <u>https://home.ubalt.edu/tmitch/642/Articles%20syllabus/Deci%20Koestner%20Ryan%20</u> <u>meta%20IM%20psy%20bull%2099.pdf</u>

- Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M. (2008). Self-determination theory: A macrotheory of human motivation, development, and health. *Canadian Psychology*, 49(3), 182-185. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012801
- Evans Brandt, P.M.C. (1998). *Multi-year/looping: A review of the pilot program for the Danville area school district* [Doctoral dissertation, Widener University]. Dissertation Abstracts International, 59, 1073.

Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). (n.d.). A comprehensive guide. www.everystudentsucceedsact.org

- Findley, M.J. (2018). The impact of looping in an elementary setting (ED585827) [Doctoral dissertation, Chapel Hill University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
 <u>https://cdr.lib.unc.edu/concern/dissertations/w3763697h</u>
- Forsten, C., Grant, J., Johnson, B., & Richardson, I. (1997). Looping Q & A: 72 practical answers to your most pressing questions. Crystal Springs Books.
- Fredriksen, K., & Rhodes, J. (2004). The role of teacher relationships in the lives of students. New Directions for Youth Development, Rhodes Lab. <u>http://www.rhodeslab.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2004/04/fredrikson-rhodes-2004-role-of-teacher.pdf
- Friedlaender, D., Beckham, K., Zheng, X., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2015). Growing a Waldorfinsprired approach in a public school district. Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education. <u>https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/publications/scope-report-</u> waldorf-inspired-school.pdf
- Friedman, M. (2018, March 5). *The long-term effects of ineffective teachers*. Brooklyn Math Tutors. <u>https://www.brooklynmathtutors.com/the-long-term-effects-of-ineffective-teachers</u>

Fuller, B.D. (2006). The result of looping on the Mississippi curriculum test in a middle school. [Doctoral dissertation, Mississippi State University]. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/305307165?pq-</u> origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true

Gawel, J.E. (1997). Herzberg's theory of motivation and Maslow's hierarchy of needs. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation, 5*(11).

https://scholarworks.umass.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1066&context=pare

- Gaustad, J. (1998). *Implementing looping*. ERIC Digest. <u>https://www.ericdigests.org//1999-</u> <u>4/looping.htm</u>
- George, P., & Shewey, K. (1997). What does the research say? Maintaining long-term teacher and student relationships. *Schools in the Middle*, *7*, 18-21, 58-59.
- George, P., Spreul, M., & Moorefield, J. (1987). Long-term student-teacher relationships: A middle school case study. National Middle School Association.
- Grant, J., Richardson, L., & Forsten, C. (n.d.). *In the loop*. The School Superintendent Association. <u>https://www.aasa.org/SchoolAdministratorArticle.aspx?id=14482</u>
- Grant, J., Johnson, B., & Richardson, I. (1996). The looping handbook. Crystal Springs Books.

Great Schools Partnership. (2015). The glossary of education reform.

https://www.edglossary.org/student-subgroup/

Hampton, F.M., Mumford, D.A., & Bond, L. (1998). Parent involvement in inner-city schools:

The project FAST extended family approach to success. Urban Education, 33(3), 410-427.

Hann, P. (2019). A review of experimental and ex post-facto research designs. Horizons University.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333220498 Experimental and Ex Post Facto _Designs

Hanover Research. (2017). *School based strategies for narrowing the achievement gap*. Hanover Research. <u>http://www.wasa-</u>

Based%20Strategies%20for%20Narrowing%20the%20Achievement%20Gap.pdf

- Hanson, B.J. (1995). Getting to know you- Multiyear teaching. *Educational Leadership*, 53(3). <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/224843833/fulltextPDF/A9A6502EDC642B5PQ/1?a</u> ccountid=10771
- Harrington, J.M. (2017). Characteristics of the effectiveness of looping as a student achievement tool. (Order no. 10639084) [Doctoral dissertation, Mercer University]. <u>https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/197268983</u> <u>3?accountid=10771</u>

Haycock, K. (2001). Closing the achievement gap. *Educational Leadership*, 58(6), 6-11. <u>http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/mar01/vol58/num06/Closing-the-Achievement-Gap.aspx</u>

Heck, R.H. (2008). Teacher effectiveness and student achievement: Investigating a multilevel cross-classified model. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 47(2). <u>https://wwwemerald-</u>

com.iris.etsu.edu:3443/insight/content/doi/10.1108/09578230910941066/full/pdf?title=te acher-effectiveness-and-student-achievement-investigating-a-multilevel-crossclassifiedmodel Henderson, A.T., & Mapp, K.K. (2002). A new wave of evidence: The impact of school, family, and community connections on student achievement. National Center for Family and Community Connections with Schools.

https://sedl.org/connections/resources/evidence.pdf

Hitz, M.M., Somers, M.C., & Jenlink, C.L. (2007). The looping classroom: Benefits for children, families, and teachers. *Young Children*, 62(2), 80.
 <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/197594526/fulltextPDF/81D89516175F401BPQ/1?</u>
 <u>accountid=10771</u>

- Howard, T.C. (2019). Why race and culture matter in schools: Closing the achievement gap in America's classrooms. Teacher's College Press.
- Increasing Student Success Through Instruction in Self-Determination. (2004). https://www.apa.org/research/action/success.
- Johnston, B. (2000). The effects of looping on parent involvement and student attitudes in elementary classrooms. (Doctoral dissertation, University of La Verne). Dissertation Abstracts International, 61, 2191.
- Kennedy, J.H., & Kennedy, C.E. (2004). Attachment theory: Implications for school psychology. Psychology in the Schools, 41(2). <u>https://www.onlinelibrary-wiley-</u> <u>com.iris.etsu.edu:3443/doi/epdf/10.1002/pits.10153</u>
- Klein, A. (2016, March 31). The Every Student Succeeds Act: An ESSA overview. *Education Week*. <u>https://www.edweek.org/ew/issues/every-student-succeeds-act/index.html</u>
- Koca, F. (2016). Motivation to learn and teacher-student relationship. *Journal of International Education and Leadership*, 6(2). <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1135209.pdf</u>

Koester, S.J. (2000). *Looping: An old idea revisited*. (Publication Number 1009) [Graduate research paper, University of Northern Iowa].

https://scholarworks.uni.edu/grp/1009/?utm_source=scholarworks.uni.edu%2Fgrp%2F10

09&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages

Konrad, M., Helf, S., & Joseph, L.M. (2011). Evidence-based instruction is not enough: Strategies for increasing instructional efficiency. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 47(2), p. 67-74. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1053451211414192</u>

Kurtz, M. (1998, December 28). *Teachers plot to give students a loop*. The News Observer. <u>http://web.archive.org/web/2000307055549/http://www.news-</u> <u>observer.com/daily/1998/12/28/tri00.html</u>

Laboratory at Brown (LAB). (1997). *Looping: Supporting student learning through long-term relationships*. Northeast and Islands Regional Educational Laboratory at Brown University. <u>https://www.brown.edu/academics/education-</u> <u>alliance/sites/brown.edu.academics.education-alliance/files/publications/looping.pdf</u>

Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). Toward a theory of culturally relevant pedagogy. *American Educational Research Journal, 32*(3). <u>https://www-jstor-</u> org.iris.etsu.edu:3443/stable/pdf/1163320.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3Ac87fcde005cac282 <u>4feff30bd6d1d9d6</u>

- Lazowski, R.A., & Hulleman, C.S. (2016). Motivation interventions in education: A metaanalytic review. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(2), 602-640. <u>https://journals-</u> <u>sagepub-com.iris.etsu.edu:3443/doi/pdf/10.3102/0034654315617832</u>
- Lincoln, R.D. (2000). Looping at the middle school level: Implementation and effects. *ERS Spectrum*, *18*(3), 19-24.

Lloyd, M.C. (2014). Comparing looping teacher-assigned and traditional-teacher assigned student achievement scores. (Order no. 3608091) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].

https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/149412900 2?accountid=10771

Lynch, M. (2017). Saving students from ineffective teachers: The Vergara decision and its potential constitutional implications. *Journal of Civil Right and Economic Development*, 30(1).

https://scholarship.law.stjohns.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1797&context=jcred

- Meeks, R.G. (2008). Does looping enhance student achievement? *The Corinthian*, 9(10). https://kb.gcsu.edu/thecorinthian/vol9/iss1/10/
- McCoy, A. R. & Reynolds, A. J. (1999). Grade retention and school performance: an extended investigation. *Journal of School Psychology*, 37(3), 273-298. <u>https://www-sciencedirectcom.iris.etsu.edu:3443/science/article/pii/S0022440599000126</u>
- Milheim, K.L. (2012, June). Toward a better experience: Examining student needs in the online classroom through Maslow's hierarchy of needs model. *MERLOT Online Journal of Learning and Teaching*, 8(2).

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.892.4995&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Minkel, J. (2015). Why looping is a way underappreciated school-improvement initiative. *Education Week Teacher*. <u>https://www.edweek.org/tm/articles/2015/06/17/looping-a-</u> <u>way-underappreciated-school-improvement-initiative.html</u> Murphy, D.J. (2002). *The effects of a kindergarten-first grade looping program on academic achievement and self-esteem*. [Doctoral dissertation, University of North Texas]. https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc3327/m2/1/high_res_d/dissertation.pdf

National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP). (2020). Achievement gaps.

https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/studies/gaps/

- National Association of Secondary School Principals. (2020). Every student succeeds act overview. <u>https://www.nassp.org/policy-advocacy-center/resources/essa-toolkit/essa-fact-sheets/every-student-succeeds-act-essa-overview/</u>
- Nichols, J.D. & Nichols, G.W. (2002). The impact of looping classroom environments on parental attitudes. *Preventing School Failure*, *71*(1), 18-25.

Niemiec, C., & Ryan, R. (2009). Autonomy, competence, and relatedness in the classroom: Applying self-determination theory to educational practice. *Theory and Research in Education*, 7(2), 133-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1477878509104318</u>

Nitecki, E. (2017). Looping and attachment in early childhood education: How the applications of epigenetics demand a change. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*,

17(2). https://files.eric.gov/fulltext/EJ1142356.pdf

No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001, Pub. L. 107-110, S 101, Stat. 1425 (2002).

Noguera, P.A. (2009). The achievement gap: public education in crisis. *New Labor Forum, 18*(2), 60-69.

https://search.proquest.com/openview/b2c53926db0b7f8cfaf9492d2da87232/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=33161 Oakes, C. (2016). Looping on academic achievement in students with mild disabilities served within an inclusive classroom: A mixed methods investigation. (Order no. 10062291)
[Doctoral dissertation, Northcentral University].

https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/177671696 6?accountid=10771

- Opdenakker, M.C., Maulana, R., & Brok, P. (2012). Teacher-student interpersonal relationships and academic motivation within one school year: Developmental changes and linkage. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 23*(1), 95-119.
- Park, J. (2004). A nation at risk. *Education Week*. <u>http://www.edweek.org/ew/issues/a-nation-at-risk/</u>
- Pecanic, M.L. (2003, May). *The experience and effects of looping in the elementary classroom* [Master Thesis, Biola University]. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED499897.pdf</u>
- Phelps, A. (2016). Looping in elementary title 1 classrooms: Impact on reading and math performance. (Order No. 10152131) [Doctoral dissertation, Lincoln Memorial University].

https://search.proquest.com/docview/1835146285/7D6B5D34E1EC4BF9PQ/2?accountid =10771

- Pratt, M.W. (2009). Looping to meet the needs of gifted children. Principal, 73(5), 16-19.
- Rasmussen, K. (1998, March). Looping: Discovering the benefits of multiyear teaching. *Education Update*, 40(2), 47-61.
- Ready, T., Edley, C., & Snow, C. (2002). Achieving high educational standards for all: Conference summary. National Academy Press.

Roderick, M. (1995). Grade retention and school dropout: Policy debate and research questions. Center for Evaluation, Development, and Research.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED397213.pdf

Salkind, N.J. (2010). Encyclopedia of research design (Volume 1, pp. 124). SAGE Publications.

Sanders, W.L., & Rivers, J.C. (1996). Cumulative and residual effects of teachers on future student academic achievement. Research Progress Report: University of Tennessee Value-Added Research and Assessment Center.

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.474.3738&rep=rep1&type=pdf

- Schmidt, K. (2019). What the research says about looping. Minnesota-Twin Cities. https://www.cehd.umn.edu/carei/documents/LoopingResearchReview2.19.pdf
- Shneyderman, A. (2000). *Evaluation of looping*. Miami-Dade County Public Schools. <u>http://oer.dadeschools.net/looping.pdf</u>
- Sirotnik, K.A. (2004). *Holding accountability accountable: What ought to matter in public education*. Teachers College Press.
- Skinner, J.S. (1998). Looping versus nonlooping second grade classrooms: Student achievement and student attitudes. [Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri-Columbia].
- Smith, D. (2010). Sustainability of the educational strategy looping in middle school settings.[Doctoral dissertation, St. John Fisher College].

https://fisherpub.sjfc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1046&context=education_etd

Snoke, J. (2007). Looping: The impact of a multi-year program on the academic progress, retention, and special education placements of students in two south central Pennsylvania schools. [Doctoral dissertation, Duquesne University]. <u>https://dsc.duq.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2238&context=etd</u> Stanfod Center for Education Policy Analysis (CEPA). (n.d.). *Racial and ethnic achievement* gaps. <u>https://cepa.stanford.edu/educational-opportunity-monitoring-project/achievement-gaps/race/</u>

Tennessee Department of Education. (2019a). 2019 Accountability protocol.

https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/accountability/2019_Accountability_Protoc ol.pdf

Tennesee Department of Education. (n.d.). Program eligibility.

https://www.tn.gov/generalservices/procurement/central-procurement-office--cpo-/governor-s-office-of-diversity-business-enterprise--godbe--/godbe-certificationoverview.html#:~:text=In%20general%2C%20to%20be%20eligible,be%20a%20U.S.%2 0Citizen%20and

Tennessee Department of Education. (2019b). State report card.

https://www.tn.gov/education/data/report-card.html

- Thomas, K.A. (2014). *Studying the looping cycle in early childhood public education: A multiple case study analysis.* (Order number. 3668165) [Doctoral dissertation, The University of Alabama at Birmingham]. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/1645769878?pq-origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true</u>
- Thompson, N.L., Franz, D.P., & Miller, N. (2009). *Research summary: Looping*. Associate for Middle Level Education. <u>https://www.amle.org/looping/</u>

 Tipton, C. (2017). Developing effective classroom environments in a high school looping program: A narrative research study. (Publication number 3185) [Doctoral dissertation, East Tennessee State University]. <u>https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/3185</u>

- Ullman, E. (2005, October 24). *Looping leads to long-term connections with students*. Edutopia. https://www.edutopia.org/familiarity-breeds-content
- U.S. Constitution. Amend X.
- Virtue, D. (2014). The role of responsive teacher practices in supporting academic motivation at the middle level. *Research in Middle Level Education*, 38(1). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1039613.pdf
- Waack, S. (2020). Hattie ranking: 252 influences and effect sizes related to student achievement. Visible Learning. <u>https://visible-learning.org/hattie-ranking-influences-effect-sizes-learning-achievement/</u>
- Washington, A. (2015). The effect of looping on the reading and math grade equivalencies of second, third, and fourth grade students. (Order no. 10003126) [Doctoral dissertation, Tennessee State University].

https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/176116924 7?accountid=10771

- Watson, M. (2018). *Learning to trust: Attachment theory and classroom management*. Oxford University Press.
- Weaver, J. (2015). Evaluating a looping model in a departmentalized and teamed school to improve rigor, relevance, and relationship structures. (Order no. 3714756) [Doctoral dissertation, J. Capella University].
 https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/170768709

6?accountid=10771

Whitehurst, G.J. (2002, March 5). Scientifically based research on teacher quality: Research on teacher preparation and professional development. No Child Left Behind.

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.468.8079&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Williams-Wright, V. (2013). Teachers' attitudes and perceptions of looping and the effect of looping on students' academic achievement. (Order no. 3577910) [Doctoral dissertation, Delta State University].

https://login.iris.etsu.edu:3443/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/147729132 7?accountid=10771

VITA

KATE HALL

Education: Professional Experience:	Ed.D. Educational Leadership, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2021
	M.A. Reading Specialist, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2012
	B.S. Early Childhood Education, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2009
	Public Schools, Kingsport, Tennessee
	Associate Principal, George Washington Elementary School; Kingsport, Tennessee, 2019-Present
	Interventionist, Tennessee Department of Education, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2018-2019
	Read to be Ready Coach Consultant, Tennessee Department of Education, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2016-2018
	K-1 Teacher, John Adams Elementary School, Kingsport, Tennessee, 2009-2016